
In-Person and Via Live Stream 
Dial-In Live Stream: 312-626-6799; Webinar ID 896 1583 2358; Passcode 569556 or click here: 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/89615832358?pwd=U25kMFI0TnhQdTRkbVhWOVB1VURFZz09 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE  

ROLL CALL 

APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES FROM THE NOVEMBER 27, 2023 REGULAR MEETING OF THE COUNCIL 

PUBLIC COMMENT: - emailed public comment can be sent to the village clerk at vmoritz@forestpark.net prior 
to 6:30 p.m. the day of the meeting 

COMMUNICATIONS:   

DEPARTMENT REPORTS: 

BILLS BY RESOLUTION 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS:  

NEW BUSINESS:  
1. Presentation by Jordan Kuehn, Chair - Safety & Traffic Commission
2. Presentation from CBBEL regarding the Village’s 3-year Infrastructure Plan
3. Ordinance Terminating the Designation of the Brown Street Station – Harlem Avenue Redevelopment 

Project Area
4. Ordinance Approving the Annual Tax Levy of the Village of Forest Park for the Fiscal Year Beginning 

May 1, 2023 and Ending April 30, 2024
5. Resolution Directing the County Clerk to Calculate Separate Limiting Rates for the Tax Levy for the 

2023 Tax Levy Year
6. Ordinance Amending Village Code to Require Paid Leave for Village Employees
7. Ordinance Approving Authorized Variations to Allow Construction of a Single-Family Residence at 7713 

Wilcox Street
8. Ordinance Approving Authorized Variations to Allow Construction of a Single-Family Residence at 838 

Circle Avenue
9. Resolution Authorizing Execution of Professional Engineering and Services Proposal for Phase II Design 

with Burke Engineering for Roosevelt Road Landscape Island Removal Project
10. Resolution Approving a 2024 Paratransit Service Provider Agreement Between Suburban Bus Division of 

the Regional Transportation Authority (PACE)
11. Ordinance Approving and Authorizing the Execution of a Vehicle Parking License Agreement with Currie 

Motors
12. Resolution Approving Pay Request #1 (Final) for the 2023 Sidewalk Improvements from Nardulli 

Construction Company, Inc
13. Resolution Authorizing Execution of Pay Request #8 for 2023 Water Main Project to Uno Construction
14. Resolution Approving Pay Request #2 for the 2023 Wilcox & Ferdinand Motor Fuel Tax (MFT) 

Resurfacing Improvements to A Lamp Concrete Contractors, Inc
15. Motion to Approve Request from the Forest Park Arts Alliance to Co-sponsor the Paint the Bridge Project 

with the Village of Forest Park
16. Motion to Approve Banner Request from Pilgrim Congregational Church

VILLAGE OF FOREST PARK 
 COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA 

Monday, December 18, 2023   
Lower Level of Village Hall 

7:00 PM 

mailto:vmoritz@forestpark.net


 

17. Motion to Approve Raffle Permit Request from Oak Park Windmills 
18. Motion to Approve Ratification of Mayor’s Signature on Senior Trip Contract 

 
 
ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT 
COMMISSIONER REPORTS   

ADJOURNMENT  INTO CLOSED SESSION 

1. Adjourn into closed session pursuant to 5 ILCS 120/2(c)(11) to consider litigation  
 



THE REGULAR MEETING OF THE COUNCIL OF THE 
VILLAGE OF FOREST PARK, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

HELD ON MONDAY EVENING, NOVEMBER 27, 2023 
 
 

Mayor Hoskins led all assembled in the Pledge of Allegiance at 7:00 p.m.  
 
 

ROLL CALL 
 
Commissioners Maxham, Nero, Melin-Rogovin, Voogd and Mayor Hoskins answered the Roll Call.   
 
 
 

APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETINGS 
 

It was moved by Commissioner Maxham and seconded by Commissioner Melin-Rogovin that the 
minutes from the November 13, 2023, Circle-Harlem TIF Public Hearing be approved without reading 
as each member has received a copy thereof and found same to be correct.   
 
ROLL CALL: 
AYES: Commissioners Maxham, Melin-Rogovin, Voogd and Mayor Hoskins 
NAYES: None 
ABSTAIN: Commissioner Nero 
The motion carried. 
 
 
It was moved by Commissioner Maxham and seconded by Commissioner Melin-Rogovin that the 
minutes from the November 13, 2023, Regular meeting of the Council be approved. 
 
ROLL CALL: 
AYES: Commissioners Maxham, Melin-Rogovin, Voogd and Mayor Hoskins 
NAYES: None 
ABSTAIN: Commissioner Nero 
The motion carried. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
None 
 
COMMUNICATIONS: 
 
None 
 
DEPARTMENT REPORTS: 
 
The Fire Department submitted its October, 2023, report and the Police Department submitted its 
September-October, 2023 report.



 2 

APPROVAL OF BILLS: 
 
It was moved by Commissioner Maxham and seconded by 
Commissioner Nero that the Resolution for the payment of bills 
be adopted.  The bills totaled $424,245.49. 
 
ROLL CALL: 
AYES: Commissioners Maxham, Nero, Melin-Rogovin, 

Voogd and Mayor Hoskins 
NAYES: None 
ABSENT: None 
The motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
UNFINISHED BUSINESS: 
 
None 
 
NEW BUSINESS: 
 
It was moved by Commissioner Maxham and seconded by 
Commissioner Melin-Rogovin that the Ordinance approving a 
Tax Increment Redevelopment Plan and Redevelopment 
Project for the Circle-Harlem redevelopment Project Area be 
adopted. 
 
ROLL CALL: 
AYES: Commissioners Maxham, Nero, Melin-Rogovin, 

Voogd and Mayor Hoskins 
NAYES: None 
ABSENT: None 
The motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
It was moved by Commissioner Maxham and seconded by 
Commissioner Melin-Rogovin that the Ordinance designating 
the Circle Harlem Redevelopment Project Area of said Village 
a Redevelopment Project Area pursuant to the Tax Increment 
Allocation Redevelopment Act be adopted. 
 
ROLL CALL: 
AYES: Commissioners Maxham, Nero, Melin-Rogovin, 

Voogd and Mayor Hoskins 
NAYES: None 
ABSENT: None 
The motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
 
 

 
 

R-103-23 
APPROVAL OF BILLS IN 

THE AMOUNT OF 
$424,245.49 
APPROVED 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

O-54-23 
ORDINANCE APPROVING 

TAX INCREMENT 
REDEVELOPMENT PLAN 
AND REDEVELOPMENT 
PROJECT FOR CIRCLE 

HARLEM 
REDEVELOPMENT 

PROJECT AREA 
APPROVED 

 
 
 
 

O-55-23 
ORDINANCE DESIGNATING 

CIRCLE HARLEM 
REDEVELOPMENT 

PROJECT AREA 
PURSUANT TO THE TAX 

INCREMENT ALLOCATION 
REDEVELOPMENT ACT 

APPROVED 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 3 

It was moved by Commissioner Maxham and seconded by 
Commissioner Melin-Rogovin that the Ordinance adopting the 
Tax Increment Allocation Financing for the Circle Harlem 
Redevelopment Project Area be adopted. 
 
ROLL CALL: 
AYES: Commissioners Maxham, Nero, Melin-Rogovin, 

Voogd and Mayor Hoskins 
NAYES: None 
ABSENT: None 
The motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
It was moved by Commissioner Maxham and seconded by 
Commissioner Melin-Rogovin that the Resolution authorizing 
and directing the transfer of funds from the Brown Street 
Station-Harlem Avenue TIF District to the Circle Harlem TIF 
District be adopted.   
 
ROLL CALL: 
AYES: Commissioners Maxham, Nero, Melin-Rogovin, 

Voogd and Mayor Hoskins 
NAYES: None 
ABSENT: None 
The motion carried unanimously. 
 
It was moved by Commissioner Maxham and seconded by 
Commissioner Melin-Rogovin that the Resolution determining 
the Estimated Property Taxes to be levied by the Village of 
Forest Park for the 2023 Tax Year be adopted. 
 
ROLL CALL: 
AYES: Commissioners Maxham, Nero, Melin-Rogovin, 

Voogd and Mayor Hoskins 
NAYES: None 
ABSENT: None 
The motion carried unanimously. 
 
It was moved by Commissioner Maxham and seconded by 
Commissioner Melin-Rogovin that the Appropriation Ordinance 
of the Village of Forest Park, Cook County, Illinois for the fiscal 
year beginning May 1, 2023, and ending April 30, 2024, be 
adopted. 
 
ROLL CALL: 
AYES: Commissioners Maxham, Nero, Melin-Rogovin, 

Voogd and Mayor Hoskins 
NAYES: None 
ABSENT: None 
The motion carried unanimously. 

O-56-23 
ORDINANCE ADOPTING 

TAX INCREMENT 
ALLOCATION FINANCING 

FOR CIRCLE HARLEM 
REDEVELOPMENT 

PROJECT AREA 
APPROVED 

 
 
 
 
 

R-104-23 
RESOLUTION DIRECTING 

TRANSFER OF FUNDS 
FROM BROWN STREET TIF 

TO CIRCLE HARLEM TIF 
DISTRICT 

APPROVED 
 

 
 
 
 
 

R-105-23 
RESOLUTION 

DETERMINING ESTIMATED 
PROPERTY TAXES TO BE 

LEVIED FOR 2023 TAX 
YEAR 

APPROVED 
 
 
 
 
 

O-57-23 
AMENDMENT TO ANNUAL 

APPROPRIATION 
ORDINANCE 
APPROVED 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 4 

It was moved by Commissioner Melin-Rogovin and seconded 
by Commissioner Voogd that the Resolution approving an 
Intergovernmental Agreement between the Village of Forest 
Park and the Metropolitan Water Reclamation District of 
Greater Chicago for the Green Alley Project be adopted. 
 
ROLL CALL: 
AYES: Commissioners Maxham, Nero, Melin-Rogovin, 

Voogd and Mayor Hoskins 
NAYES: None 
ABSENT: None 
The motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
It was moved by Commissioner Melin-Rogovin and seconded 
by Commissioner Voogd that the Resolution to approve and 
authorize the execution of a Professional Engineering Services 
Proposal for the Lead Service Line Replacement Project #1 
Loan Application Assistance and Bidding Documents by and 
between Christopher B. Burke Engineering Ltd. And the 
Village of Forest Park be adopted. 
 
ROLL CALL: 
AYES: Commissioners Maxham, Nero, Melin-Rogovin, 

Voogd and Mayor Hoskins 
NAYES: None 
ABSENT: None 
The motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
It was moved by Commissioner Melin-Rogovin and seconded 
by Commissioner Voogd that the Resolution authorizing an 
application for North Central Council of Mayors Surface 
Transportation Program (STP) Funds (Circle Avenue – From 
Franklin to Roosevelt) be adopted. 
 
ROLL CALL: 
AYES: Commissioners Maxham, Nero, Melin-Rogovin, 

Voogd and Mayor Hoskins 
NAYES: None 
ABSENT: None 
The motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
It was moved by Commissioner Melin-Rogovin and seconded 
by Commissioner Voogd that the Resolution authorizing an 
application for North Central Council of Mayors Surface 
Transportation Program (STP) Funds (Harrison Street – from 
Desplaines to Harlem) be adopted. 
 

R-106-23 
RESOLUTION APPROVING 

IGA WITH MWRD FOR 
GREEN ALLEY PROJECT 

APPROVED 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

R-107-23 
RESOLUTION APPROVING 
ENGINEERING PROPOSAL 
FOR LEAD SERVICE LINE 

REPLACEMENT PROJECT 
APPROVED 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

R-108-23 
RESOLUTION 

AUTHORIZING 
APPLICATION FOR STP 

FUNDS CIRCLE AVENUE 
FROM FRANKLIN TO 

ROOSEVELT 
APPROVED 

 
 
 
 
 

R-109-23 
RESOLUTION APPROVING 

APPLICATION FOR STP 
FUNDS HARRISON STREET 

FROM DESPLAINES TO 
HARLEM 

APPROVED 



 5 

ROLL CALL: 
AYES: Commissioners Maxham, Nero, Melin-Rogovin, 

Voogd and Mayor Hoskins 
NAYES: None 
ABSENT: None 
The motion carried unanimously. 
 
It was moved by Commissioner Maxham and seconded by 
Commissioner Nero to approve and ratify the execution of a 
Maintenance Agreement with Syn-tech Systems, Inc. 
 
ROLL CALL: 
AYES: Commissioners Maxham, Nero, Melin-Rogovin, 

Voogd and Mayor Hoskins 
NAYES: None 
ABSENT: None 
The motion carried unanimously. 
 
It was moved by Commissioner Maxham and seconded by 
Commissioner Melin-Rogovin to approve and ratify the 
execution of agreements with Wildfire, Drury Lane Theatre and 
the Murder Mystery Co., associated with events organized by 
the Community Center. 
 
ROLL CALL: 
AYES: Commissioners Maxham, Nero, Melin-Rogovin, 

Voogd and Mayor Hoskins 
NAYES: None 
ABSENT: None 
The motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
It was moved by Commissioner Maxham and seconded by 
Commissioner Melin-Rogovin to approve and ratify a Raffle 
Permit application submitted by the Howard Mohr Community 
Center for a Toy Drive Fundraising Event to be held on 
December 7, 2023. 
 
ROLL CALL: 
AYES: Commissioners Maxham, Nero, Melin-Rogovin, 

Voogd and Mayor Hoskins 
NAYES: None 
ABSENT: None 
The motion carried unanimously. 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

MAINTENANCE 
AGREEMENT WITH SYN-

TECH SYSTEMS, INC. 
APPROVED BY MOTION 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
COMMUNITY CENTER 
EVENT AGREEMENTS 

APPROVED BY MOTION 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

COMMUNITY CENTER 
RAFFLE PERMIT 

APPROVED BY MOTION 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 



 6 

ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT: 
 
None. Interim Village Administrator Rachell Entler was serving as the Deputy Village Clerk in the absence 
of Village Clerk Vanessa Moritz and did not have a report. 
 
COMMISSIONER’S REPORTS: 
 
 
Commissioner Maxham reported that thanked residents John Cunningham and Rob Sall for 
coordinating the Candyland display at Ed’s Way and the beautiful tree lights display on Beloit Avenue. 
The commissioner also thanked Chief Gross for organizing a police ride-a-long for her and 
complimented Officer C. Solms on his professionalism. Lastly, the commissioner reported that she 
attended the opening of Robert’s Westside, as well as the Soup and Bread fundraiser held there.  
 
Commissioner Nero reported that he agreed with Commissioner Maxham about the Beloit holiday 
lights on the streets and how they lighted up the neighborhood. The lights helped people get into the 
holiday spirit.  The commissioner hopes this takes off throughout the Village 
 
Commissioner Melin-Rogovin reported that she is organizing multiple Operation Rising Spirits nights, 
where people can write cards to Veterans to wish them well and thank them for their service to our 
country. The commissioner thanked the Chamber of Commerce for the excellent Small Business 
Saturday event. The commissioner also stated she is looking forward to the Holiday Walk coming up. 
 
Commissioner Voogd reported that the Village is paying twice for leaf removal, through the Village’s 
yard waste contract and the Public Works leaf street pick up program. The commissioner stated he 
leaf pick up program creates overtime with Public Works personnel and can also lead to clogged 
sewers. The commissioner reminded residents there are ecological ways to take care of leaves 
through paper bagging, mulching or simply leaving the leaves in one’s yard. The commissioner asked 
that leaves not be put in plastic bags nor should anyone park on a pile of leaves as this could be a fire 
hazard. 
 
Mayor Hoskins reported that the Mayor’s Toy Drive would be held on December 7th. The Mayor also 
stated the Village would hold a Menorah Lighting ceremony earlier on December 7th. The Mayor 
congratulated Play It Again Sports on its upcoming expansion. Lastly, the Mayor reported he would 
be participating on the Pace Transit Services Advisory committee regarding the Cermak Avenue 
corridor and that the Village was invited to apply for the funding from the Water Resources 
Development Act. 
 
 
 

ADJOURNMENT 
 

There being no further business to be addressed, Commissioner Nero moved and Commissioner 
Maxham seconded to adjourn the meeting.  The motion carried. 
 
Mayor Hoskins declared the meeting adjourned at 7:35 P.M. 

 
Respectfully submitted,  

 
 
 

Vanessa Moritz, Village Clerk 



R E S O L U T I O N  No.

               BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the Village of Forest Park, Cook County, Illinois, 
that we dispense with the reading of the individual bills inasmuch as each department head has approved
and signed bills in the following aggregate amount for their respective departments.

Refunds and Allocations 5,821.69$        
Public Affairs 37,621.40$      
Police Department 1,258.43$        
Community Center 246.34$           
Accounts & Finance (Clerks Office) 29,399.11$      
Accounts & Finance (Fire Department) 5,511.82$        
Department of Health & Safety 23,091.90$      
Streets and Public Improvements 101,039.02$    
Public Property 32,954.04$      
Seizure 1,464.16$        
Federal Customs 11,266.11$      
TIF 11,125.60$      
VIP 462,040.60$    

Water Department 352,032.62$    

TOTAL 1,074,872.84$ 

  ADOPTED BY THE Council of the Village of Forest Park this 18th Day of December, 2023.

Ayes:
Nays:
Absent:

___________________________
Rory Hoskins, Mayor

ATTEST:

___________________________
Vanessa Moritz, Village Clerk



Account Number Vendor Invoice Date Amount

100-00-000-4111-210  Forest Park Public Library 12/05/2023 5,124.22         
100-00-000-4220-300  Total Parking Solutions Inc 11/16/2023 332.00            
100-00-000-4230-135 Ladora McCool 06/15/2023 300.00            
100-00-000-4450-130 Susan Green 12/04/2023 2.47                
100-00-000-4480-300 Scott Little 11/13/2023 63.00              

Refunds and Allocations 5,821.69         



Account Number Vendor Invoice Date Amount

100-10-101-6100-100  Storino Ramello & Durkin 10/31/2023 9,633.05         
100-10-101-6100-100  Storino Ramello & Durkin 10/31/2023 892.50            
100-10-101-6120-305  Darien Marion-Burton 12/06/2023 425.00            
100-10-101-6120-305  Forest Park Chamber of Commerce 11/16/2023 88.00              
100-10-101-6150-152  Verizon Wireless 11/22/2023 258.80            
100-10-101-6150-152  Verizon Wireless 11/22/2023 42.30              
100-10-101-6150-202 Dr. Carrie Steiner 11/30/2023 585.00            
100-10-101-7000-150  Telcom Innovations Group LLC 11/28/2023 108.75            
100-11-111-6100-115  Lauterbach & Amen LLP 11/20/2023 750.00            
100-11-111-6100-120  Techno Consulting Inc 12/01/2023 3,850.00         
100-11-111-6110-105  Agilant Solutions Inc 11/29/2023 580.00            
100-11-111-6110-110  ITsavvy LLC 11/28/2023 19,500.00       
100-11-111-6110-110  Springbrook Holding Company LLC 11/17/2023 8.00                
100-11-111-6110-110  Techno Consulting Inc 12/01/2023 900.00            

Public Affairs 37,621.40       



Account Number Vendor Invoice Date Amount

100-12-121-6120-305  Message in a Bottle 11/15/2023 140.00            
100-12-123-6145-202  Bio-One Chicago LLC. 11/27/2023 50.00              
100-12-124-6150-114  Thomson Reuters-West 12/01/2023 468.43            
100-12-124-6150-114  Elineup LLC 11/27/2023 600.00            

Police Department 1,258.43         



Account Number Vendor Invoice Date Amount

100-15-151-6140-200  SCHAUERS HARDWARE 11/30/2023 29.94              
100-15-152-6170-200  Case Lots Inc 11/15/2023 134.40            
100-15-154-6170-114  BLUE CAB CO. 11/09/2023 8.00                
100-15-154-6170-114  BLUE CAB CO. 11/21/2023 4.00                
100-15-169-6160-100  Elmhurst Occupational Health 11/30/2023 70.00              

Community Center 246.34            



Account Number Vendor Invoice Date Amount

100-21-211-5005-002  Fidelity Security Life Ins Co 11/22/2023 647.96            
100-21-211-5005-002  Fidelity Security Life Ins Co 11/22/2023 75.45              
100-21-211-6110-110  Gordon Flesch Co Inc 12/05/2023 58.99              
100-21-211-6110-110  Xerox Financial Services 11/10/2023 126.69            
100-21-211-6140-104  Amsterdam Printing & Litho 12/04/2023 287.41            
100-21-211-6140-104  Quill 11/15/2023 138.64            
100-21-211-6140-104  Quill 11/21/2023 73.88              
100-21-211-6140-110  34  Publishing Inc 11/21/2023 3,200.00         
100-21-211-6140-110  SOLV Business Solution-Safeguard 233439 11/30/2023 266.96            
100-21-211-6140-112  Holiday Signs 11/15/2023 31.00              
100-21-211-6150-150  AT&T 11/25/2023 117.92            
100-21-211-6150-150  AT&T 11/25/2023 58.96              
100-21-211-6150-150  AT&T 11/25/2023 52.97              
100-21-211-6150-150  AT&T 12/01/2023 627.64            
100-21-211-6150-150  AT&T 12/04/2023 85.86              
100-21-211-6190-003  POLICE PENSION FUND 11/27/2023 8,952.00         
100-21-211-6190-004  Firefighters Pension Fund 11/27/2023 8,952.00         
100-21-211-6191-001  POLICE PENSION FUND 12/05/2023 1,724.17         
100-21-211-6191-002  Firefighters Pension Fund 12/05/2023 1,877.60         
100-21-211-7000-080  Pitney Bowes Inc 11/08/2023 358.71            
100-21-211-7000-080  Xerox Financial Services 11/10/2023 1,684.30         

Accounts and Finance (Clerks Office) 29,399.11       



Account Number Vendor Invoice Date Amount

100-30-301-6140-200  Ed's Way Food Store 11/01/2023 62.82              
100-30-302-6110-150  Verizon Wireless 11/22/2023 297.25            
100-30-302-6110-200  SCHAUERS HARDWARE 11/30/2023 14.86              
100-30-302-6110-200  Grainger Inc. 11/21/2023 19.04              
100-30-302-6110-200  Municipal Emergency Services Inc 11/20/2023 1,346.21         
100-30-302-6110-200  State Chemical Industrial Products 11/30/2023 599.47            
100-30-302-6145-100 Lou Davini 11/08/2023 100.00            
100-30-302-6145-100  Witmer Public Safety Group 11/17/2023 54.42              
100-30-302-6145-323  Health Endeavors SC 11/18/2023 255.00            
100-30-302-6155-110  SCHAUERS HARDWARE 11/30/2023 34.16              
100-30-303-6145-300  Image Trend 10/31/2023 1,750.00         
100-30-303-6145-300  Linde Gas North America LLC 11/09/2023 131.21            
100-30-303-6145-300  Linde Gas North America LLC 11/23/2023 302.59            
100-30-303-6145-300  Mckesson Medical 11/25/2023 84.97              
100-30-303-6145-300  Mckesson Medical 12/02/2023 171.97            
100-30-303-6145-300  Zoll Medical Corp 11/13/2023 24.60              
100-30-303-6145-300  Zoll Medical Corp 11/14/2023 263.25            

Accounts and Finance (Fire Department) 5,511.82         



Account Number Vendor Invoice Date Amount

100-40-401-5000-017  AMS Electric Inc 06/20/2023 1,800.00         
100-40-401-5000-017  AMS Electric Inc 08/25/2023 1,335.00         
100-40-401-5000-017  AMS Electric Inc 11/13/2023 1,575.00         
100-40-401-5000-017 Tariq Dandan 12/02/2023 840.00            
100-40-401-5000-017 Raymond Traynor 11/27/2023 585.00            
100-40-401-6140-130  Cloudpermit Inc 11/21/2023 1,500.00         
100-40-402-6100-100  Storino Ramello & Durkin 10/31/2023 336.00            
100-40-402-6100-115  Muse Community + Design 11/30/2023 11,031.25       
100-40-402-6141-003 Christopher Burke Engineering LTD 11/30/2023 490.00            
100-40-402-6141-003 Christopher Burke Engineering LTD 11/30/2023 825.00            
100-40-402-6150-232 Tariq Dandan 12/02/2023 552.00            
100-40-402-6150-240  Book Reporting Service 11/29/2023 833.95            
100-40-403-6140-206  Smithereen Pest Mgmt Services 12/01/2023 1,200.00         
100-40-410-6140-110  Forest Printing Company 11/28/2023 188.70            

Department of Health and Safety 23,091.90       



Account Number Vendor Invoice Date Amount

100-50-501-6145-100 Jon Pankey 11/17/2023 100.00            
100-50-502-6140-202  SCHAUERS HARDWARE 11/30/2023 21.14              
100-50-502-6180-160  Com Ed 11/16/2023 4,073.98         
100-50-502-6185-102  Lakeshore Recycling Systems LLC 11/15/2023 9,189.70         
100-50-502-6185-102  Lakeshore Recycling Systems LLC 11/30/2023 7,530.92         
100-50-502-6185-112  Republic Services #551 11/15/2023 1,600.00         
100-50-502-6185-501  Republic Services #551 11/15/2023 43,469.30       
100-50-502-6185-502  Republic Services #551 11/15/2023 30,732.68       
100-50-502-6185-503  Republic Services #551 11/15/2023 4,321.30         

Streets and Public Improvements 101,039.02     



Account Number Vendor Invoice Date Amount

100-55-552-6145-100 Jim Becker 11/16/2023 88.56              
100-55-552-6145-100 Brandon Betancourt 10/11/2023 100.00            
100-55-552-6145-100 Brandon Betancourt 12/05/2023 216.99            
100-55-552-6180-101  SCHAUERS HARDWARE 11/30/2023 73.28              
100-55-552-6180-114  SCHAUERS HARDWARE 11/30/2023 89.48              
100-55-552-6180-114  HOME DEPOT CREDIT 11/02/2023 549.00            
100-55-552-6180-114  McAdam Landscaping 10/31/2023 102.89            
100-55-553-6180-150  Lyons Pinner Electric Co 11/29/2023 3,233.01         
100-55-553-6180-150  Lyons Pinner Electric Co 11/30/2023 387.00            
100-55-553-6180-150  Lyons Pinner Electric Co 11/30/2023 1,348.90         
100-55-553-6180-152  Lyons Pinner Electric Co 11/30/2023 595.00            
100-55-553-6180-152  State Treasurer-IDOT 11/09/2023 1,286.40         
100-55-553-6180-160  Com Ed 11/09/2023 103.08            
100-55-553-6180-160  Com Ed 11/21/2023 811.26            
100-55-553-6180-160  Com Ed 11/27/2023 25.08              
100-55-553-6180-160  Com Ed 11/27/2023 24.57              
100-55-553-6180-160  Com Ed 11/27/2023 24.28              
100-55-553-6180-160  Com Ed 11/27/2023 30.76              
100-55-553-6180-160  Com Ed 11/27/2023 258.88            
100-55-553-6180-160  Com Ed 11/28/2023 40.60              
100-55-553-6180-160  Com Ed 11/28/2023 31.07              
100-55-555-6180-100  Comcast 11/08/2023 200.01            
100-55-555-6180-100  Hick's Vacuum 11/28/2023 111.95            
100-55-555-6180-100  Illinois Alarm 12/01/2023 192.00            
100-55-555-6180-100  Quill 11/15/2023 949.02            
100-55-555-6180-110  Comcast 11/02/2023 50.60              
100-55-555-6180-110  Comcast 11/12/2023 2.11                
100-55-555-6180-110  Comcast 12/02/2023 50.60              
100-55-555-6180-115  Illinois Alarm 12/01/2023 165.00            
100-55-555-6180-120  Illinois Alarm 12/01/2023 165.00            
100-55-555-6180-130  Case Lots Inc 11/15/2023 340.00            
100-55-555-6180-130  Illinois Alarm 12/01/2023 165.00            
100-55-555-6180-130  PremiStar-North 11/28/2023 550.89            
100-55-555-6180-130  PremiStar-North 11/28/2023 535.48            
100-55-555-6180-140  Comcast 11/07/2023 2.11                
100-55-555-6180-140  Comcast 11/22/2023 188.04            
100-55-555-6180-140  Comcast 11/28/2023 2.11                



Account Number Vendor Invoice Date Amount

100-55-555-6180-140  Illinois Alarm 12/01/2023 135.00            
100-55-555-6180-140  PremiStar-North 11/28/2023 188.99            
100-55-555-6180-150  SCHAUERS HARDWARE 11/30/2023 30.11              
100-55-560-6180-125  HOME DEPOT CREDIT 10/25/2023 97.76              
100-55-560-6180-125  HOME DEPOT CREDIT 10/25/2023 (3.99)               
100-55-560-6180-125  HOME DEPOT CREDIT 10/27/2023 32.96              
100-55-570-6155-101  SYN-TECH SYSTEMS INC. 11/27/2023 550.00            
100-55-570-6155-106  Illinois Communications Sales Inc 11/21/2023 105.00            
100-55-570-6155-106  Kimball Midwest 11/20/2023 542.17            
100-55-570-6155-106  Kimball Midwest 11/20/2023 72.00              
100-55-570-6155-106  Linde Gas North America LLC 11/08/2023 2,399.00         
100-55-570-6155-106  Linde Gas North America LLC 11/22/2023 205.16            
100-55-570-6155-106  Linde Gas North America LLC 11/22/2023 220.43            
100-55-570-6155-106  Regional Truck Equipment Co 09/18/2023 221.19            
100-55-570-6155-106  Standard Equipment Co. 11/27/2023 69.49              
100-55-570-6155-110  SCHAUERS HARDWARE 11/30/2023 14.11              
100-55-570-6155-110  HOME DEPOT CREDIT 11/02/2023 249.00            
100-55-570-6155-112  BC Body Craft Inc 10/12/2023 1,244.03         
100-55-570-6155-112  Berwyn Garage 11/27/2023 309.14            
100-55-570-6155-112  CCP INDUSTRIES INC 11/25/2023 123.09            
100-55-570-6155-112  Commercial Tire Service 11/14/2023 771.60            
100-55-570-6155-112  Commercial Tire Service 11/27/2023 549.25            
100-55-570-6155-112  Forest Automotive Inc 11/18/2023 5,287.50         
100-55-570-6155-202  Berwyn Garage 11/30/2023 968.07            
100-55-570-6155-202  Berwyn Garage 11/30/2023 417.97            
100-55-580-6180-202  West Central Municipal Conf 11/30/2023 5,065.00         

Public Property 32,954.04       



Account Number Vendor Invoice Date Amount

230-00-000-6150-152  Verizon Wireless 11/22/2023 170.92            
230-00-000-6150-152  Verizon Wireless 11/22/2023 72.24              
230-00-000-6900-230  J.G. Uniforms 11/28/2023 905.00            
230-00-000-6900-230  Secretary of State 11/28/2023 316.00            

Seizure 1,464.16         



Account Number Vendor Invoice Date Amount

232-00-000-6900-232  Comcast 11/22/2023 173.05            
232-00-000-6900-232  CDS Office Technologies 11/29/2023 335.00            
232-00-000-6900-232  CDS Office Technologies 11/30/2023 3,328.16         
232-00-000-6900-232 Christopher Fischer 11/22/2023 600.00            
232-00-000-6900-232 Ray O'Herron Co Inc 11/18/2023 59.90              
232-00-000-6900-232  Secretary of State 11/17/2023 30.00              
232-00-000-6900-232  Southwestern Illinois College 10/09/2023 6,740.00         

Federal Customs 11,266.11       



Account Number Vendor Invoice Date Amount

302-00-000-6100-100  Storino Ramello & Durkin 10/31/2023 367.50            
302-00-000-6100-100  Storino Ramello & Durkin 10/31/2023 630.00            
302-00-000-6100-115  Griffon Systems Inc 05/23/2022 5,584.36         
302-00-000-6185-700 Christopher Burke Engineering LTD 11/30/2023 563.50            
304-00-000-6100-100  Storino Ramello & Durkin 10/31/2023 848.60            
304-00-000-6180-114 The Printing Store 11/29/2023 546.00            
306-00-000-6100-100  Storino Ramello & Durkin 10/31/2023 315.00            
306-00-000-6100-100  Growing Community Media NFP 11/22/2023 1,125.00         
306-00-000-6100-115  Forest Printing Company 11/29/2023 1,145.64         

TIF 11,125.60       



Account Number Vendor Invoice Date Amount

312-00-000-6100-100  Storino Ramello & Durkin 10/31/2023 1,496.25         
312-00-000-6100-105 Christopher Burke Engineering LTD 11/30/2023 883.00            
312-00-000-6150-152  Verizon Wireless 11/22/2023 38.01              
312-00-000-6310-005  Amalgamated Bank of Chgo. 12/01/2023 475.00            
312-00-000-7000-107 Christopher Burke Engineering LTD 11/20/2023 963.12            
312-00-000-7000-109  A Lamp Concrete Contractors Inc 12/01/2023 352,836.90     
312-00-000-7000-109 Christopher Burke Engineering LTD 11/30/2023 16,890.00       
312-00-000-7000-109  Uno Construction Co Inc 12/04/2023 25,000.00       
312-00-000-7000-312 Christopher Burke Engineering LTD 11/30/2023 1,436.00         
312-00-000-7000-312 Christopher Burke Engineering LTD 11/30/2023 6,543.87         
312-00-000-7000-312 Christopher Burke Engineering LTD 11/30/2023 897.50            
312-00-000-7000-312 Christopher Burke Engineering LTD 11/30/2023 1,120.00         
312-00-000-7000-312 J. Nardulli Concrete Inc 11/29/2023 53,460.95       

VIP 462,040.60     



Account Number Vendor Invoice Date Amount

501-80-800-6110-105  Springbrook Holding Company LLC 11/17/2023 862.00            
501-80-800-6110-105  Verizon Wireless 11/22/2023 36.01              
501-80-800-6140-102  Suburban Mailing Services Inc 11/30/2023 2,271.28         
501-80-800-6150-150  AT&T 11/25/2023 62.93              
501-80-800-6150-154  Com Ed 11/09/2023 20.21              
501-80-800-6150-154  Com Ed 11/28/2023 37.33              
501-80-800-6155-110  SCHAUERS HARDWARE 11/30/2023 30.60              
501-80-800-6800-100  City of Chicago 12/08/2023 163,333.45     
501-80-800-6800-112  Alexander Chemical 11/14/2023 1,545.16         
501-80-800-6800-150  SCHAUERS HARDWARE 11/30/2023 8.07                
501-80-800-6800-150  Franzen Plumbing Inc 11/30/2023 2,850.00         
501-80-800-6800-151  Core & Main LP 11/22/2023 280.68            
501-80-800-6800-152  Core & Main LP 11/08/2023 423.71            
501-80-800-6800-153  Comcast 11/06/2023 83.90              
501-80-800-6800-153  PremiStar-North 11/28/2023 2,144.94         
501-80-800-7000-020 Christopher Burke Engineering LTD 11/30/2023 11,250.00       
501-80-800-7000-020 Christopher Burke Engineering LTD 11/30/2023 1,080.00         
501-80-800-7000-020 Christopher Burke Engineering LTD 11/30/2023 2,557.50         
501-80-800-7000-020 Tim Stefl Inc 11/15/2023 123.75            
501-80-800-7000-020  Uno Construction Co Inc 12/04/2023 163,031.10     

Water Department 352,032.62     



Forest Park 
Safety and Traffic 
Commission 
Year to Date Report 11/13/23



General Activity

• Board is currently fully seated
• Added new members Drew DePriest, Burhan Syed, and 

Bridget Lane
• Commissioner Melin-Rogovin is now the council liaison for 

the commission and has been attending meetings and 
meeting with the Chair monthly

• Working with Commissioner Melin-Rogovin to integrate 
Complete Streets material in our deliberations.

• Upcoming community engagement meeting led by 
Commissioner Melin-Rogovin, date TBD.



General Activity

• Chief Gross provided village-wide traffic incident 
data and Drew DePriest built an interactive 
visualization to help identify hot spots and provide 
context to requests. There is potential to 
coordinate with FPPD to update it regularly and 
host it for public access.

• With inspiration from neighboring communities, 
Rich Leib has created a form to host on the website 
to collect citizen requests/issues.

• Commissioner Melin-Rogovin is working to secure 
radar signs, fixed and/or mobile, and the 
commission will work to prioritize placement.



Reviewed Issues – Completed

• Crosswalk at Des Plaines/CTA
• Light burned out so the sign was only showing initial white to 

cross, but dark when it would normally be flashing. Confusing to 
pedestrians. Referred to Sal at Public Works during the 
construction for correction.



Reviewed Issues – Action Recommended

• Madison Crosswalks
• Recommend installing yield to pedestrian 

signs at all crosswalks with available 
medians, just as recommended in the 
Madison/Elgin report



Reviewed Issues – Action Recommended

• Circle/Lexington
• Traffic incident at intersection created 

a lot of discussion in the community.
• Commissioner Melin-Rogovin met with 

residents in the area who expressed it 
is a common problem area and they 
avoid the intersection if possible.

• Crosswalk signs do exist and are visible.
• Recommend to add yellow curbs on 

all sides of intersection and refresh 
paint of existing lines.



Reviewed Issues – Action Recommended

• Lathrop/Fillmore/Roosevelt
• Residents of 1000 block Lathrop presented signed petition to the 

commission requesting traffic calming on the street
• Cited multiple accidents and near misses
• Private Montessori School is a block away with many pedestrians
• Traffic from the Forest Park mall exit enters Lathrop rather than 

turning to Roosevelt
• Potentially considering at a later date other measures including: 

signage for local traffic, narrowing entrance to Lathrop at 
Roosevelt, and a traffic circle at Fillmore

• Recommend painting parking lanes along Lathrop to narrow 
road



Reviewed Issues – Action Recommended

• Troost/Roosevelt – Dollar Store Exit
• Considering marking the street beyond the alley “local 

traffic only”.
• Recommend to make street two way from Roosevelt 

to alley.



Reviewed Issues – Action Recommended

• Trucks West of Elgin on Washington
• Trucks getting stuck turning south on Marengo
• Recommend a sign “Trucks must turn right at Elgin”



Reviewed Issues – Action Recommended

• Circle/Jackson
• Frequent source of complaints and accident reports
• Recommend to direct Burke Engineering to conduct a formal 

traffic study of intersection.



Reviewed Issues – Action Recommended

• 7200 Randolph/Marengo – Pedestrian 
Access

• A resident presented a complaint to the 
commission regarding her daughter having 
difficulty crossing the intersection in a 
wheelchair due to obstructed sight lines and 
speeding traffic.  

• There are lights at Harlem and Circle, but no 
stop signs in between at Marengo or Elgin.

• Recommend repainting existing crosswalks 
and adding pedestrian crossing signs.



Reviewed Issues – Action Recommended

• Jackson West Curve –
Community Center

• Parents daily use north side 
of community center for 
childcare pick-up/drop-off.

• There is no designated area 
for this.

• Complaints of excess speed 
throughout the area.

• Recommend painting a 
designated pick-up/drop-
off area and adding signage.



Reviewed Issues – Action Recommended

• Jackson Funeral Processions - Drones/Cameras
• Do not recommend drones for this issue.
• Recommend installation of cameras on Jackson Blvd. similar to 

other areas in town.



Reviewed Issues – Action Recommended

• Deer crossing on Des Plaines
• Pictures provided by resident of deer struck by 

cars on Des Plaines.
• Recommend to add a deer crossing sign on Des 

Plaines south of Walmart.



Reviewed Issues – No Action

• 7200 Franklin – Dog Den
• Second complaint from same person
• Appears they want a crosswalk added mid-block rather than using the ones currently present.



Pending Issues

• Jackson West Curve
• Refer to plan commission for potential bike path and integration 

into village-wide plan

• Bicycle infrastructure throughout village
• Integration with neighboring communities
• Potential grant opportunities
• Possible collaboration with Plan commission
• New member Bridget Lane is championing this in our discussions

• 1000 Beloit/Fillmore stop sign request



Traffic Calming Measures – Under Review

• Traffic Circles
• Under discussion by the commission currently
• Would need to recommend to work with Burke Engineering to evaluate 

suitability for traffic circles in specific intersections throughout the 
village as a traffic calming measure.

• Elmwood Park uses them in many locations.
• Chief Gross has no issue regarding police vehicles.
• Chief Chiappetta provided feedback: 

• Our ladder truck is longer than what they have in Elmwood Park and has a larger 
turning radius.

• Confirm minimum clearances around the circle and intersection curbs/bump-outs to 
accommodate the ladder truck(s).

• In smaller intersections a traffic circle that is not built up significantly in the center 
could still be driven over by the ladder truck without harm.



Summary - Issues for Potential Council Action

• Madison crosswalks: pedestrian signs in medians
• Circle/Lexington: add yellow curbs, repaint lines
• Lathrop/Filmore: paint parking lines along both sides of Lathrop
• Troost/Roosevelt: Allow two-way traffic from Dollar Store exit
• Elgin/Washington: add sign “Trucks must turn right at Elgin”
• Circle/Jackson: refer to Burke Engineering
• Randolph/Marengo: repaint crosswalks, add pedestrian crossing signs
• Jackson west curve: designate pick-up/drop-off zone for Community Center
• Jackson funeral processions: add cameras to Jackson
• Des Plaines: add deer crossing signs south of Walmart



THREE-YEAR 
INFRASTRUCTURE PLAN 

2024-2026

December 18, 2023



2 THREE-YEAR  INFRASTRUCTURE PLAN

• In 2018, the Public Works Director, Village Administrator, 
and Village Engineer developed a 5-year infrastructure plan 
for calendar years 2018-2022

• The plan consisted of alley, roadway, water main 
improvements based on recent assessments

• The 2023 plan was prepared as a single year plan with the 
intent to move forward with a 3-year plan for calendar years 
2024-2026

Background



Roadway Assessment

63 THREE-YEAR  INFRASTRUCTURE PLAN



44 THREE-YEAR  INFRASTRUCTURE PLAN

Roadway Assessment
NORTH SIDE



45 THREE-YEAR  INFRASTRUCTURE PLAN

Roadway Assessment
SOUTH SIDE



Alley Assessment

66 THREE-YEAR  INFRASTRUCTURE PLAN



47 THREE-YEAR  INFRASTRUCTURE PLAN

Alley Assessment
NORTH SIDE



48 THREE-YEAR  INFRASTRUCTURE PLAN

Alley Assessment
SOUTH SIDE



49 THREE-YEAR  INFRASTRUCTURE PLAN

Proposed 3-Year Infrastructure Plan
2024-2026
NORTH SIDE



410 THREE-YEAR  INFRASTRUCTURE PLAN

Proposed 3-Year Infrastructure Plan
2024-2026
SOUTH SIDE



11

3-Year Infrastructure Plan (2024-2026) Project List

11 THREE-YEAR  INFRASTRUCTURE PLAN

PROJECT NAME ESTIMATED TOTAL 
PROJECT COST VIP FUND MFT FUNDS WATER FUND TIF FUND GRANT FUNDS GRANT TYPE 

2024 $   5,873,627 $  1,131,763 $    370,000 $     734,000 $     90,000 $  3,547,864 

GREEN ALLEY IMPROVEMENTS - 800 & 900 CIRCLE / MARENGO $      847,000 $       353,000 — — — $     494,000 MWRD Green 
Infrastructure

2024 STREET PROGRAM $      840,000 — $      370,000 $     470,000 — —

IEPA LEAD SERVICE REPLACEMENT - PRIVATE SIDE ONLY $   2,924,000 — — $     264,000 — $  2,660,000 IEPA PWSLP 

COMMUTER BIKE FACILITIES $      162,627 $      16,263 — — — $     146,364 ITEP / IDOT 

FILLMORE ST BRICK REPAIRS (BELOIT - HANNAH) $        36,000 $      36,000 — — — —

VAN BUREN ST. MULTI USE PATH - INVEST IN COOK $      616,000 $    368,500 — — — $    247,500 Invest in Cook 

2024 SIDEWALK PROGRAM $        58,000 $      58,000 — — — —

JACKSON WATER RESERVOIR REPAIRS TBD 

MADISON STREET REVITALIZATION $      300,000 $    300,000 — — — —

ROOSEVELT ROAD ISLAND MODIFICATION $        90,000 — — — $   90,000 — Roosevelt TIF 

2025 $   1,626,000 $    806,000 — $     820,000 — —

2025 STREET PROGRAM $   1,331,000 $    594,000 — $     737,000 — —

2025 ALLEY IMPROVEMENTS - 1100 LATHROP / FERDINAND $      237,000 $    154,000 — $       83,000 — —

2025 SIDEWALK PROGRAM $        58,000 $      58,000 — — — —

2026 $   3,321,000 $    682,000 $    400,000 $  1,439,000 — $    800,000 

2026 STREET PROGRAM $   863,000 $    624,000 — $     239,000 — —

JACKSON RESURFACING & WATER MAIN (DES PLAINES - HARLEM) $   2,400,000 — $   400,000 $  1,200,000 — $    800,000 STP & INVEST in 
America Act

2026 SIDEWALK PROGRAM $        58,000 $      58,000 — — — —



12

• Seek direction from board to proceed with 3-Year Plan
• Seek direction to proceed with design and planning 

documents for 2024 program year

Next Steps

THREE-YEAR  INFRASTRUCTURE PLAN12



1181222.1  

ORDINANCE NO. O-____________-23 
 

AN ORDINANCE TERMINATING THE DESIGNATION OF THE  
BROWN STREET STATION-HARLEM AVENUE REDEVELOPMENT  

PROJECT AREA OF THE VILLAGE OF FOREST PARK AS A TAX  
INCREMENT FINANCING REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT AREA,  

AND DISSOLVING THE SPECIAL TAX INCREMENT ALLOCATION  
FUND FOR SAID REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT AREA 

  

 WHEREAS, the Village of Forest Park (the “Village”) did heretofore adopt the following 

ordinances to establish the Brown Street Station-Harlem Avenue tax increment financing district 

(the “Brown Street Station TIF District”): 

• Ordinance No. O-24-00, entitled “An Ordinance of the Village of Forest Park, Cook 
County, Illinois, Approving a Tax Increment Redevelopment Plan and 
Redevelopment Project for the Brown Street Station – Harlem Avenue 
Redevelopment Project Area”; 
 

• Ordinance No. O-25-00, entitled “An Ordinance of the Village of Forest Park, Cook 
County, Illinois, Designating the Brown Street Station – Harlem Avenue 
Redevelopment Project Area Pursuant to the Tax Increment Allocation 
Redevelopment Act”;  
 

• Ordinance No. O-26-00, entitled “An Ordinance of the Village of Forest Park, Cook 
County, Illinois, Adopting Tax Increment Allocation Financing for the Brown 
Street Station – Harlem Avenue Redevelopment Project Area”; and 
 

• Ordinance No. O-50-23, entitled “An Ordinance Approving an Amendment 
Releasing Parcels from the Redevelopment Project Area of the Brown Street 
Station-Harlem Avenue Tax Increment Financing District for the Village of Forest 
Park, Cook County, Illinois; 

 
(collectively the “TIF Ordinances”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities have determined that it is in the best interests of 

the Village, its residents and the affected taxing districts to terminate the designation of the 

Redevelopment Project Area as a redevelopment project area under the Act and dissolve the 

Special Tax Allocation Fund; and 



1181222.1  

 WHEREAS, the Village will close the books and records of the Redevelopment Project 

Area once the Finance Director of the Village determines that all redevelopment project costs for 

the Redevelopment Project Area have been paid, all obligations issued in connection with the 

Redevelopment Project Area have been retired, all real estate tax appeals and equalized assessed 

valuation contests of properties with the Redevelopment Project Area are resolved/determined, the 

time period to appeal and/or contest real estate taxes and equalized assessed values of properties 

within the Redevelopment Project Area has expired, all fund transfers to contiguous TIF district(s) 

have been made, and if any excess monies are available in the special tax allocation fund for the 

Redevelopment Project Area (the “Special Tax Allocation Fund”), said monies shall be distributed 

in accordance with Section 11-74.4-8 of the Act; and 

 WHEREAS, in accordance with the provisions of the Act, the Village terminates the 

designation of the Redevelopment Project Area as a redevelopment project area effective as of the 

passage of this Ordinance and will dissolve the Special Tax Allocation Fund relating to the 

Redevelopment Project Area upon the satisfaction of all obligations of the Redevelopment Project 

Area, satisfaction of all obligations issued in connection with the Redevelopment Project Area, all 

real estate tax appeals and equalized assessed valuation contests of properties with the 

Redevelopment Project Area are resolved/determined, the time period to appeal and/or contest real 

estate taxes and equalized assessed values of properties within the Redevelopment Project Area 

has expired, and all fund transfers to contiguous TIF district(s) have been made; and 

 WHEREAS, prior to October 31, 2023, the Village did provide notice to all affected taxing 

districts of the Village’s intention to terminate the Redevelopment Project Area; and 



1181222.1  

 WHEREAS, the Village will give notice to the affected taxing districts that the 

Redevelopment Project Area was terminated by providing the affected taxing districts with a copy 

of this Ordinance, within a reasonable time after its passage and approval. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Village Council of the Village of 

Forest Park, Cook County, Illinois, as follows: 

 SECTION ONE. The recitals to this Ordinance are full, true and correct and adopted 

as findings of the Corporate Authorities and are incorporated herein by specific reference. 

 SECTION TWO. The designation of the Redevelopment Project Area as described in 

the TIF Ordinances, as a redevelopment project area, is terminated effective as of the passage of 

this Ordinance.  The Village Clerk or a designee is hereby directed to timely file a certified copy 

of this Ordinance with the Clerk of Cook County and the Village shall cause notice to be given to 

all affected taxing districts that the Redevelopment Project Area was terminated by providing the 

affected taxing districts with a copy of this Ordinance, within a reasonable time after its passage 

and approval. 

 SECTION THREE. The Special Tax Allocation Fund established for the Redevelopment 

Project Area shall be dissolved upon the satisfaction of all obligations of the Redevelopment 

Project Area, satisfaction of all obligations issued in connection with the Redevelopment Project 

Area, all real estate tax appeals and equalized assessed valuation contests of properties with the 

Redevelopment Project Area are resolved/determined, the time period to appeal and/or contest real 

estate taxes and equalized assessed values of properties within the Redevelopment Project Area 

has expired, and all fund transfers to contiguous TIF district(s) have been made.  Upon satisfaction 

and occurrence of the above, the Finance Director of the Village is hereby authorized and directed 

to finalize the accounting necessary to close the books and records of the Redevelopment Project 



1181222.1  

Area and remit any excess monies in the Special Tax Allocation Fund to the County of Cook for 

distribution to the affected taxing districts in accordance with 11-74.4-8 of the Act upon final 

payouts of obligations. 

 SECTION FOUR. If any section, paragraph or provision of this Ordinance shall be held 

to be invalid or unenforceable for any reason, the invalidity or unenforceability of such section, 

paragraph or provision shall not affect any of the remaining provisions of this Ordinance. 

 SECTION FIVE. All ordinances, resolutions, motions or orders in conflict herewith 

shall be, and the same hereby are, repealed to the extent of such conflict. 

 SECTION SIX. This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its 

passage and approval in the manner provided by law. 

PASSED by the Council of the Village of Forest Park, Cook County, Illinois this 18th day of 

December, 2023. 

 AYES:___________________________________________ 

 NAYS:___________________________________________ 

 ABSENT:_________________________________________ 

 

        APPROVED: 
 
 
 

______________________________ 
        Rory E. Hoskins, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
__________________________ 
Vanessa Moritz, Village Clerk 
 

 
 







 Amount 
Appropriated  Amount Levied  

OFFICE OF PUBLIC AFFAIRS
General Public Affairs
Salary for the Honorable Mayor 30,000$               30,000$                      
Salary for the Liquor Commissioner 10,000$               10,000$                      
Salary for Village Prosecutor 38,100$               
Salaries for Support Staff 207,802$             70,500$                      
Commissions 40,470$               
Codification of Village Code 7,100$                 
Legal Services/Labor Negotiations 270,670$             
Consolidated Dispatch Service 895,214$             
Consulting Services 143,210$             
IT Village-wide 164,856$             
Community Relations / Office Expenses 139,285$             
     Total for General Public Affairs 1,946,706$          110,500$                    

Police Department
Management and Office Salaries 1,624,355$          349,079$                    
Law Enforcement Expenses 244,725$             
Officer Salaries 4,452,450$          250,000$                    
     Total Police Department 6,321,530$          599,079$                    

Community Center
Salaries 454,221$             58,515$                      
Community Relations / Office Expenses 14,720$               
Day Care Costs 23,000$               
Events / Senior Services 133,100$             
RTA Salaries 82,005$               
RTA Office / Equipment Expense 2,875$                 
     Total Community Center 709,921$             58,515$                      

TOTAL FOR OFFICE OF PUBLIC AFFAIRS 8,978,157$          768,094$                    

Section I: This Ordinance is hereby termed "the Annual Tax Levy Ordinance of the Village of Forest Park, Cook County, Illinois, 
for the fiscal year beginning May 1, 2023 and ending April 30, 2024."

ORDINANCE NO.  O-     -23
THE ANNUAL TAX LEVY ORDINANCE OF THE VILLAGE OF FOREST PARK
COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS FOR THE FISCAL YEAR BEGINNING MAY 1, 2023

AND ENDING APRIL 30, 2024

Be it ordained by the Council of the Village of Forest Park, Cook County, Illinois:

Section II: The total amount of appropriations for all corporate purposes legally made to be collected from the tax levy of the 
current year is hereby ascertained to be the sum of nine million, four hundred sixty three thousand, one hundred sixty three and 
no/100 Dollars ($9,463,163.00) for the fiscal year beginning May 1, 2023 and ending April 30, 2024.

Section III: The sum of nine million, four hundred sixty three thousand, one hundred sixty three and no/100 Dollars 
($9,463,163.00), being the total of appropriations heretofore legally made which are to be collected from the tax levy of the current 
fiscal year of the Village of Forest Park for all corporate purposes of said Village, be and the same is hereby levied upon all of the 
taxable property in the Village of Forest Park subject to taxation for the current year, the specific amounts as levied for the various 
funds being included herein by being placed in separate columns under the heading "Amount Levied," which appears over the 
same, the tax so levied being for the current fiscal year of said Village, and the purpose for which appropriations are made and the 
amount appropriated for each purpose, respectively, to be collected from the tax levy is as follows:

GENERAL FUND



 Amount 
Appropriated  Amount Levied  

OFFICE OF ACCOUNTS AND FINANCE
Accounts and Finance
Commissioner of Accounts and Finance 10,000$               10,000$                      
Salaries 247,651$             75,000$                      
Village Clerk / HR Administrator 104,040$             
Insurance Benefits 2,712,050$          
Audit/Consulting Services 22,024$               
Office Equipment and Supplies 418,843$             
Foreign Fire Insurance Tax 40,000$               
Police Pension Cost 3,470,428$          2,618,595$                 
Fire Pension Cost 2,917,163$          2,028,595$                 
Federal Grants 2,035,098$          
State Grants 3,085,658$          
Local Grants 93,129$               
Liability Insurance 1,156,909$          100,000$                    
     Total Clerk's Office 16,312,994$        4,832,190$                 

Fire Department
Management and Office Salaries 827,805$             140,000$                    
Firefighter Salaries 2,610,202$          250,000$                    
Firefighting Equipment / Expenses 189,296$             
Community Relations / Office Expenses 17,250$               
Paramedic Services 842,386$             
     Total Fire Department 4,486,939$          390,000$                    

TOTAL FOR OFFICE OF ACCOUNTS AND FINANCE 20,799,933$        5,222,190$                 

OFFICE OF HEALTH AND SAFETY
Commissioner 10,000$               10,000$                      
Salaries 287,241$             52,500$                      
Plan Review / Inspections 224,250$             
Community Relations / Office Expenses 26,400$               

TOTAL OFFICE OF HEALTH AND SAFETY 547,891$             62,500$                      

OFFICE OF STREETS AND PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS
Commissioner 10,000$               10,000$                      
Salaries 390,338$             153,000$                    
Community Relations / Office Expenses 8,340$                 
Street Maintenance, Equipment, and Supplies 1,739,914$          

TOTAL OFFICE OF STREETS AND PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS 2,148,592$          163,000$                    

OFFICE OF PUBLIC PROPERTY
Commissioner 10,000$               10,000$                      
Salaries 534,590$             153,000$                    



 Amount 
Appropriated  Amount Levied  

Community Relations / Office Expenses 23,580$               
Property Maintenance 313,166$             
     Total General Public Property 881,336$             163,000$                    

Street and Traffic Lighting 405,796$             -$                                

Fleet Maintenance 705,900$             -$                                

Forestry
Salaries 221,001$             50,000$                      
Other Forestry Expenses 138,935$             -$                                
     Total Forestry 359,936$             50,000$                      

Playgrounds and Recreation
Playground Maintenance / Improvement 3,750$                 -$                                
Dog Park 3,750$                 -$                                
     Total for Playgrounds and Recreation 7,500$                 -$                                

TOTAL OFFICE OF PUBLIC PROPERTY 2,360,468$          213,000$                    

TOTAL GENERAL FUND 34,835,041$        6,428,784$                 

OFFICE OF ACCOUNTS AND FINANCE
IMRF Fund 318,290$             185,000$                    

Social Security Fund 390,750$             325,000$                    

TOTAL SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS OFFICE OF ACCOUNTS AND FINANCE 709,040$             510,000$                    

TOTAL VILLAGE FUNDS CAPPED 35,544,081$        6,938,784$                 

FIRE PENSION PA 93-0689 CONTRIBUTION EXEMPT FROM PTELL -$                         207,293$                    

TOTAL VILLAGE OF FOREST PARK FUNDS 35,544,081$        7,146,077$                 
-                              

Corporate
Salaries 1,375,000$          1,375,000$                 
Office Expenses / Equipment 573,994$             468,418$                    
Circulation Collection 260,000$             260,000$                    
Special Tax Expenses
Building and Grounds Maintenance 76,168$               76,168$                      
Unemployment Insurance 5,000$                 2,500$                        
Workmen's Compensation 3,000$                 2,000$                        
FICA 65,000$               65,000$                      
Public Liability Insurance 20,000$               10,000$                      

SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

FREE PUBLIC LIBRARY



 Amount 
Appropriated  Amount Levied  

IMRF 50,000$               50,000$                      
Audit 8,000$                 8,000$                        

TOTAL FREE PUBLIC LIBRARY FUND 2,436,162$          2,317,086$                 

TOTAL AMOUNT APPROPRIATED / LEVIED 37,980,243$        9,463,163$                 

AYES:  _______________

NAYS:  _____________

ABSENT:  ______________ Approved:

____________________________
Mayor

Attest:

____________________________
Village Clerk

ADOPTED by the Council of the Village of Forest Park, Cook County, Illinois, this 18th day of December, 2023.

Section IV:  The total amount of nine million, four hundred sixty three thousand, one hundred sixty three and no/100 Dollars 
($9,463,163.00) ascertained above, be and is hereby levied and assessed on all property subject to taxation within the Village of 
Forest Park according to the value of said property as assessed and equalized for state, county, and municipal purposes for the 
current year.

Section V:  This Ordinance is adopted pursuant to the procedures set forth in the Illinois Municipal Code.

Section VI: There is hereby certified to the County Clerk of Cook County, Illinois, the several sums above, constituting said total 
amount of nine million, four hundred sixty three thousand, one hundred sixty three and no/100 Dollars ($9,463,163.00), which said 
total amount the Village of Forest Park, Cook County, Illinois, requires to be raised by taxation for the current fiscal year of said 
Village, and the Village Clerk of said Village is hereby ordered and directed to file with the County Clerk of Cook County, Illinois, 
on or before the time required by law, a certified copy of this Ordinance.

Section VII:  If any item, purpose, sentence or portion thereof of this Ordinance be, for any reason, held invalid or 
unconstitutional, such decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions of this Ordinance, and any ordinance or parts 
of any ordinance in conflict herewith are repealed.

Section VIII:  This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage and approval.



RESOLUTION NO. R-_________-23 

 

 

A RESOLUTION DIRECTING THE COUNTY CLERK TO CALCULATE  

SEPARATE LIMITING RATES FOR THE TAX LEVY OF THE VILLAGE OF  

FOREST PARK, ILLINOIS FOR THE 2023 TAX LEVY YEAR 

 

 WHEREAS, pursuant to section 18-195 of the Property Tax Extension Limitation Law, 

(35 ILCS 200/18-185 et seq.) the corporate authorities of a municipality may request the county 

clerk to calculate separate limiting rates for the library funds and the aggregate of the other village 

funds. 

 WHEREAS, the corporate authorities of the Village of Forest Park have determined that 

it is in the best interest of the Village to request the Cook County Clerk to calculate separate 

limiting rates for purposes of the Property Tax Extension Limitation Law. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Village Council of the Village of 

Forest Park, Cook County, Illinois, as follows: 

 Section 1. Direction to the County Clerk to Calculate Separate Limiting Rates.  

 The corporate authorities of the Village of Forest Park, Illinois, do hereby request and 

direct the Cook County Clerk to calculate separate limiting rates for the library funds and the 

aggregate of the other Village funds for the purposes of the Property Tax Extension Limitation 

Law, (35 ILCS 200/18-185 et seq.) for the Village of Forest Park 2023 tax levy. 

 Section 2. Direction to File Resolution with County Clerk.  

 The Village Clerk, or her designee, be and is hereby authorized and directed to cause a 

certified copy of this Resolution to be filed with the Tax Extension Division of the Cook County 

Clerk’s Office. 

  

 



Section 3. Effective Date. 

 This Resolution shall take effect upon its passage, as provided by law. 

 

Resolved this 18th day of December, 2023. 

 

AYES: ___________________________________ 

 

NAYS: ___________________________________ 

 

ABSENT: _________________________________ 

 

      APPROVED: 

 

 

 

      _______________________________________ 

      Rory E. Hoskins, Mayor 

 

 

ATTESTED: 

 

 

 

______________________________________ 

Vanessa Moritz, Village Clerk 

 

 

 

 
 



1170363-1 
 

ORDINANCE NO. O-_____-23 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE FOREST PARK MUNICIPAL CODE  
TO REQUIRE A FORM OF PAID LEAVE FOR VILLAGE EMPLOYEES 

 
WHEREAS, on March 13, 2023, the Paid Leave for All Workers Act, 820 ILCS 192/1 et 

seq. (the “PLAWA”), was signed into law, effective January 1, 2024, mandating that nearly all 

Illinois employers provide covered employees up to 40 hours of paid leave per 12-month period; 

and  

WHEREAS, the PLAWA excludes certain governmental employers from the mandates of 

the Act, including school districts and park districts, as well as certain private employers, but failed 

to exclude municipalities from the mandates of the PLAWA; and 

WHEREAS, in addition to the amount of paid leave required under the PLAWA, paid 

leave under this law may be taken by an employee for any reason of the employee’s choosing, or 

for no reason at all, and must be provided by the employer upon the employee’s request, which 

request may be provided to the employer without advance notice, if the leave is not foreseeable, 

as determined by the employee; and  

WHEREAS, the workforce of the Village of Forest Park provides essential and continuing 

governmental services, including police, fire, and public works services, the operations of which 

could be severely disrupted by the application of the above-referenced impromptu leave mandated 

under the PLAWA; and 

WHEREAS, employees of the Village are provided paid leave benefits, including 

vacation, sick and personal leave, that meet or exceed the amount of paid leave provided under the 

PLAWA, either through the application of benefits afforded under the Village’s Employee 

Handbook, or pursuant to coverage under a bona fide collective bargaining agreement or other 

employment agreement; and 



 

WHEREAS, Section 15(p) of the PLAWA also provides that the provisions of the 

PLAWA shall not apply to any employer that is covered by a municipal ordinance that is in effect 

on January 1, 2024, that requires an employer to give any form of paid leave to their employees; 

and  

WHEREAS, the corporate authorities of the Village find that it is necessary to require that 

the Village, as an employer, provide a form of paid leave to its employees by amending the Village 

Code to set forth this requirement, rendering the provisions of the PLAWA inapplicable to the 

Village of Forest Park, as a municipal employer.    

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and Village Council of the 

Village of Forest Park, Cook County, Illinois, as follows: 

SECTION 1:  The facts and statements contained in the preambles to this Ordinance are 

found to be true and correct and are hereby adopted as part of this Ordinance. 

SECTION 2:  Chapter 5, entitled “Village Officers and Employees,” of Title 1, entitled 

“Administration,” of the Municipal Code of the Village of Forest Park is hereby amended by 

adding a new Section 1-5-8, to read as follows: 

1-5-8 – Paid Leave Required for Full-Time Village Employees. 

The Village of Forest Park shall provide all full-time employees of the Village with no less 
than five (5) work days of paid leave per year, to be administered pursuant to the applicable 
policies of the Village Employee Handbook, bona fide collective bargaining agreement, or 
other employment agreement.  
 
SECTION 3:  Pursuant to Section 1-5-8 of the Municipal Code of the Village of Forest 

Park and Section 15(p) of the Paid Leave for All Workers Act (820 ILCS 192/15(p)), the provisions 

of the PLAWA shall not apply to the Village of Forest Park, as a municipal employer. 

SECTION 4: If any section, subsection, paragraph, sentence, clause or phrase of this 

Ordinance or any part thereof is, for any reason, held to be unconstitutional or invalid or ineffective 



 

by any court of competent jurisdiction, such decision shall not affect the validity or effectiveness 

of the remaining portions of this Ordinance, or any part thereof.   

SECTION 5: All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with the provisions of this 

Ordinance are hereby repealed to the extent of the conflict.   

SECTION 6: This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect upon its passage and 

approval in accordance with law. 

 
PASSED by the Council of the Village of Forest Park, Cook County, Illinois this 18th day of 

December, 2023.   

AYES:___________________________________________   
 
NAYS:___________________________________________   
 
ABSENT:_________________________________________   

   
 
       APPROVED:   

 
   
       _____________________________ 
       Rory E. Hoskins, Mayor 
   
ATTEST:   
 
  
__________________________   
Vanessa Moritz, Village Clerk   



1 
1181101.1 

ORDINANCE NO. O-______-23 
 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING APPROVAL OF AUTHORIZED  
VARIATIONS TO ALLOW THE CONSTRUCTION OF A  

SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENCE AT 7713 WILCOX STREET,  
IN THE VILLAGE OF FOREST PARK, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

 
(PZC 2023-08-:  7713 WILCOX STREET) 

 
WHEREAS, George Rosca (hereinafter the “Petitioner”) is the owner of 7713 Wilcox 

Street in the Village of Forest Park, legally described as follows: 

LOT 269 IN E.A. CUMMINGS AND COMPANY’S MADISON STREET 
ADDITION IN SECTION 13, TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH, RANGE 12 EAST OF 
THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, SITUATION IN THE VILLAGE OF 
FOREST PARK, COUNTY OF COOK, STATE OF ILLINOIS. 
 
PIN: 15-13-105-018-0000 

 

WHEREAS, the Petitioner submitted an application to the Village of Forest Park 

(“Village”) for approval of four (4) Variations to construct a single-family residence on the 

Subject Property; and 

WHEREAS, the Subject Property is located in the R-1/Low Density Residential District; 

WHEREAS, many of the residential areas of Forest Park are legally nonconforming 

particularly as it relates to lot width and lot size;  

WHEREAS, the requested Variations (collectively, the “Variations”), for the Project are 

as follows: 

1. Reduce the lot size from 6250 sq ft to 3125 sq ft. 

2. Reduce minimum lot width from 50’ to 25’. 

3. Reduce the required west side yard setbacks from 3’ to 2’. 

4. Increase permitted lot coverage from 40% to 45%. 

WHEREAS, a Variation requires compliance with the following standards: 

1. General Standard: No Variation(s) shall be granted pursuant to this section unless 

the applicant shall establish that carrying out the strict letter of the provisions of this title would 

create a particular hardship or a practical difficulty. Such a showing shall require proof that the 

Variation being sought satisfies each of the standards set forth in this subsection.  

Carrying out the strict letter of the lot and yard requirements would be a practical difficulty 



2 
1181101.1 

and while the request includes four (4) Variations, they are all related to the same issue of a 

substandard lot of record.  

2. Unique Physical Condition: The Subject Property is exceptional as compared to 

other lots subject to the same provision by reason of a unique physical condition, including 

presence of an existing use, structure or sign, whether conforming or nonconforming; irregular 

or substandard shape or size; exceptional topographical features; or other extraordinary physical 

conditions peculiar to and inherent in the Subject Property that amount to more than a mere 

inconvenience to the owner and that relate to or arise out of the lot rather than the personal 

situation of the current owner of the Subject Property. 

The unique physical condition is not that this is the only 25’ lot in the Village but rather 

that until a standardized remedy for these substandard lots is approved, there will remain serious 

limitations to what kind of development and redevelopment is possible.   

3. Not Self-Created: The aforesaid unique physical condition is not the result of any 

action or inaction of the owner or its predecessors in title and existed at the time of the enactment 

of the provisions from which a Variation(s) is sought or was created by natural forces or was the 

result of governmental action, other than the adoption of this title, for which no compensation 

was paid. 

The Subject Property has been a platted lot for many decades at 25’, as many lots in the 

Village have. The subsequent zoning code amendments that required a minimum lot width in 

excess of the existing conditions has created hundreds of nonconformities with little in the way 

of remedy.  

4. Denied Substantial Rights: The carrying out of the strict letter of the provision 

from which a Variation(s) is sought would deprive the owner of the Subject Property of 

substantial rights commonly enjoyed by owners of other lots subject to the same provision. 

The majority of properties surrounding the Subject Property are on substandard lots that 

do not conform with the zoning ordinance. The proposed project is in scale with surrounding 

homes.  

5.  Special Privilege: The alleged hardship or difficulty is not merely the inability of 

the owner or occupant to enjoy some special privilege or additional right not available to owners 

or occupants of other lots subject to the same provision, nor merely an inability to make more 

money from the use of the subject property; provided, however, that where the standards herein 



3 
1181101.1 

set out exist, the existence of an economic hardship shall not be a prerequisite to the granting of 

an authorized Variation.  

Given the high number of 25’ lots in the Village, it is likely that new development or 

redevelopment on said lots similar in circumstance to the Subject Property will face similar issues. 

No special privilege is involved.  

6. Title And Plan Purposes: The Variation would not result in a use or development 

of the subject property that would not be in harmony with the general and specific purposes for 

which this title and the provision from which a Variation is sought were enacted or the general 

purpose and intent of the official comprehensive plan.  

The proposed Project on the Subject Property would be harmonious in that the Variations 

would be more in line with surrounding homes and would provide the required number of parking 

spaces thereby remedying a nonconformity.  

7. Essential Character Of Area: The Variation would not result in a use or 

development on the Subject Property that:  

a. Would be materially detrimental to the public welfare or materially injurious to 

the enjoyment, use, development or value of property or improvements permitted in the vicinity; 

or  

b. Would materially impair an adequate supply of light and air to the properties and 

improvements in the vicinity; or  

c. Would substantially increase congestion in the public streets due to traffic or 

parking; or  

d. Would unduly increase the danger of flood or fire; or  

e. Would unduly tax public utilities and facilities in the area; or  

f. Would endanger the public health or safety. The requested Variation would not 

adversely impact the character of the surrounding neighborhood as described above but would 

rather create a modern dwelling on an underutilized lot.  

g. No Other Remedy: There is no means other than the requested Variation by which 

the alleged hardship or difficulty can be avoided or remedied to a degree sufficient to permit a 

reasonable use of the subject property. 

WHEREAS, pursuant to proper legal notice, a public hearing on the Petitioner’s 

application was conducted by the Planning and Zoning Commission on November 20, 2023; and 



4 
1181101.1 

WHEREAS, on November 20, 2023, the Planning and Zoning Commission considered 

the testimony and public comment, reviewed the proposal, and issued its recommendation to 

approve the Variations with conditions; and 

WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of the Village that the application for the authorized 

Variations be approved by the corporate authorities of the Village. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Village Council of the Village of 

Forest Park, Cook County, Illinois, as follows: 

Section 1. The recitals set forth in the preamble are hereby incorporated herein by 

reference and made a part of this Ordinance. 

Section 2. The Planning and Zoning Commission has reviewed the Application and 

findings for the Variations and has forwarded its recommendation that the Village Council 

approve the Variations. 

 Section 3. The Petitioner is hereby granted the following Variations: 

1. Reduce the lot size from 6250 sq ft to 3125 sq ft. 

2. Reduce minimum lot width from 50’ to 25’. 

3. Reduce the required west side yard setbacks from 3’ to 2’. 

4. Increase permitted lot coverage from 40% to 45%. 

 Section 4. The corporate authorities of the Village hereby make the findings of fact 

as follows: 

  
1. Carrying out the strict letter of the lot and yard requirements would be a practical 

difficulty and while the request includes four (4) Variations, they are all related to the 
same issue of a substandard lot of record. 

2. The unique physical condition is not that this is the only 25’ lot in the Village but rather 
that until a standardized remedy for these substandard lots is approved, there will 
remain serious limitations to what kind of development and redevelopment is possible.    

3. The lot has been platted for many decades at 25’ as many lots in the Village have. The 
subsequent zoning code amendments that required a minimum lot width in excess of 
the existing conditions has created hundreds of nonconformities with little in the way 
of remedy.  

4. The majority of properties surrounding this site are on substandard lots that do not 
conform with the zoning ordinance. The proposed project is in scale with surrounding 
homes. 

5. Given the high number of 25’ lots in the Village, it is likely that new development or 
redevelopment on said lots will face similar issues. No special privilege is involved.  



5 
1181101.1 

6. The proposed Project would be harmonious in that the Variations would be more in 
line with surrounding homes and would provide the required number of parking 
spaces thereby remedying a nonconformity.  

7. The requested Variations would not adversely impact the character of the surrounding 
neighborhood as described above but would rather create a modern dwelling on an 
underutilized lot. 

8. Strict compliance with the lot requirements would make the Project not feasible and 
would be incompatible with the surrounding character of the neighborhood. 

 
 Section 5. The granting of the Variations herein as requested by Petitioner for the 

Subject Property is subject to the following terms and conditions: 

1. The single family home shall be constructed in strict compliance with Variations and 
pursuant to the “Project Documents” submitted by the applicant and available in the 
Department of Public Health and Safety.  

2. All construction shall comply with the Building Code of the Village of Forest Park, with 
final plans subject to review and approval by the Village Engineer and Director of Public 
Health and Safety.  

3. No building permits and no Certificate of Occupancy for the Subject Property shall be 
issued by the Department of Public Health and Safety to the Petitioner unless all debts 
owed to the Village of Forest Park by the Petitioner have been paid in full prior to the 
issuance of such permits or certificate.  

4. The Variations shall expire one (1) year after its passage and approval unless a permit has 
been issued and construction has commenced within that time period.  

5. Any violation of the above conditions will result in a violation of the Municipal code of 
the Village of Forest Park and the owner may be subject to fines for each day said violation 
exists. 
 

 Section 6. The approval of the Variations for the Project on the Subject Property 

are subject to all other conditions and requirements imposed and set forth in the Village Code, 

as amended, and all other duly enacted ordinances of the Village. The project shall commence 

in strict compliance with the testimony presented on behalf of and by the Petitioner and the 

following plans (“Project Plans”): 

1. Application for Zoning Action, signed 11/3/2023) 

2. Project Narrative, undated 

3. Applicant's response to Standards for Zoning [Variation], undated, 3 pages 

4. Location and Zoning Map (SK1.0), dated 11/2/2023, 1 page 

5. Plat of Survey, dated 12/29/2022, 1 page 

6. Site Plan (SK1.1), dated 11/2/2023, 1 page 

7. Floor Plans (SK2.1-SK2.3), dated 11/2/2023, 3 pages 



6 
1181101.1 

8. Building Elevations (SK3.1-3.3), dated 11/2/2023, 3 pages 

 Section 7. This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect upon is passage and 

approval in the manner provided by law. 

PASSED by the Council of the Village of Forest Park, Cook County, Illinois this 18th day of 

December, 2023. 

 AYES:___________________________________________ 

 NAYS:___________________________________________ 

 ABSENT:_________________________________________ 

 

        APPROVED: 
 
 
 

______________________________ 
        Rory E. Hoskins, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
__________________________ 
Vanessa Moritz, Village Clerk 
 

 



1 
1181102.1 

ORDINANCE NO. O-______-23 
 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING APPROVAL OF AUTHORIZED  
VARIATIONS TO ALLOW THE CONSTRUCTION OF A  

SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENCE AT 838 CIRCLE AVENUE,  
IN THE VILLAGE OF FOREST PARK, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

 
(PZC 2023-09:  838 CIRCLE AVENUE) 

 
WHEREAS, Patrick Buckley (hereinafter the “Petitioner”) is the owner of 838 Circle 

Avenue in the Village of Forest Park (“Subject Property”), legally described as follows: 

LOTS 23 AND 24 IN BLOCK 1 IN ADAM SCHAAF AND W.A. KREIDLER'S 
ADDITION TO SOUTH OAK PARK, BEING A SUBDIVISION OF THE WEST 
1/2 OF THE NORTHEAST 1/4 OF THE SOUTHEAST 1/4 OF SECTION 13, 
TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH, RANGE 12, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL 
MERIDIAN, IN COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS.  
 
PIN: 15-13-405-021-0000 

 

WHEREAS, the Petitioner submitted an application to the Village of Forest Park 

(“Village”) for approval of three (3) Variations to permit construction of a single-family residence 

on the Subject Property (“Project”); and 

WHEREAS, the Subject Property is located in the R-1/Low Density Residential District; 

WHEREAS, many of the residential areas of Forest Park are legally nonconforming 

particularly as it relates to lot width and lot size;  

WHEREAS, the requested Variations (collectively, the “Variations”) for the Project are 

as follows: 

1. Reduce the lot size from 6250 sq ft to 3125 sq ft. 

2. Reduce minimum lot width from 50’ to 25’. 

3. Reduce the required north side yard setbacks from 3’ to 2.6’. 

WHEREAS, a Variation requires compliance with the following standards: 

1. General Standard: No Variation(s) shall be granted pursuant to this section unless 

the applicant shall establish that carrying out the strict letter of the provisions of this title would 

create a particular hardship or a practical difficulty. Such a showing shall require proof that the 

Variation being sought satisfies each of the standards set forth in this subsection.  

Carrying out the strict letter of the lot and yard requirements would be a practical difficulty 



2 
1181102.1 

and while the request includes three Variations, they are all related to the same issue of a 

substandard lot of record.  

2. Unique Physical Condition: The Subject Property is exceptional as compared to 

other lots subject to the same provision by reason of a unique physical condition, including 

presence of an existing use, structure or sign, whether conforming or nonconforming; irregular 

or substandard shape or size; exceptional topographical features; or other extraordinary physical 

conditions peculiar to and inherent in the Subject Property that amount to more than a mere 

inconvenience to the owner and that relate to or arise out of the lot rather than the personal 

situation of the current owner of the Subject Property. 

The unique physical condition is not that this is the only 25’ lot in the Village but rather 

that until a standardized remedy for these substandard lots is approved, there will remain serious 

limitations to what kind of development and redevelopment is possible.   

3. Not Self-Created: The aforesaid unique physical condition is not the result of any 

action or inaction of the owner or its predecessors in title and existed at the time of the enactment 

of the provisions from which a Variation(s) is sought or was created by natural forces or was the 

result of governmental action, other than the adoption of this title, for which no compensation 

was paid. 

The Subject Property has been a platted lot for many decades at 25’, as many lots in the 

Village have. The subsequent zoning code amendments that required a minimum lot width in 

excess of the existing conditions has created hundreds of nonconformities with little in the way 

of remedy.  

4. Denied Substantial Rights: The carrying out of the strict letter of the provision 

from which a Variation(s) is sought would deprive the owner of the Subject Property of 

substantial rights commonly enjoyed by owners of other lots subject to the same provision. 

The majority of properties surrounding the Subject Property are on substandard lots that 

do not conform with the zoning ordinance. The proposed Project on the Subject Property is in 

scale with surrounding homes.  

5.  Special Privilege: The alleged hardship or difficulty is not merely the inability of 

the owner or occupant to enjoy some special privilege or additional right not available to owners 

or occupants of other lots subject to the same provision, nor merely an inability to make more 

money from the use of the Subject Property; provided, however, that where the standards herein 



3 
1181102.1 

set out exist, the existence of an economic hardship shall not be a prerequisite to the granting of 

an authorized Variation(s).  

Given the high number of 25’ lots in the Village, it is likely that new development or 

redevelopment on said lots similar in circumstance to the Subject Property will face similar issues. 

No special privilege is involved.  

6. Title And Plan Purposes: The Variation(s) would not result in a use or 

development of the Subject Property that would not be in harmony with the general and specific 

purposes for which this title and the provision from which a Variation is sought were enacted or 

the general purpose and intent of the official comprehensive plan.  

The proposed Project on the Subject Property would be harmonious in that the 

Variation(s) would allow construction more in line with surrounding homes and provide infill on 

a vacant lot.  

7. Essential Character Of Area: The Variation(s) would not result in a use or 

development on the Subject Property that:  

a. Would be materially detrimental to the public welfare or materially 

injurious to the enjoyment, use, development or value of property or improvements 

permitted in the vicinity; or  

b. Would materially impair an adequate supply of light and air to the 

properties and improvements in the vicinity; or  

c. Would substantially increase congestion in the public streets due to traffic 

or parking; or  

d. Would unduly increase the danger of flood or fire; or  

e. Would unduly tax public utilities and facilities in the area; or  

f. Would endanger the public health or safety. The requested Variation(s) 

would not adversely impact the character of the surrounding neighborhood as described 

above but would rather create a modern dwelling on an underutilized lot.  

g. No Other Remedy: There is no means other than the requested Variation 

by which the alleged hardship or difficulty can be avoided or remedied to a degree 

sufficient to permit a reasonable use of the Subject Property. 

WHEREAS, pursuant to proper legal notice, a public hearing on the Petitioner’s 

application was conducted by the Planning and Zoning Commission on November 20, 2023; and 



4 
1181102.1 

WHEREAS, on November 20, 2023, the Planning and Zoning Commission considered 

the testimony and public comment, reviewed the proposal, and issued its recommendation to 

approve the Variations for the Project with conditions; and 

WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of the Village that the application for the authorized 

Variations be approved by the corporate authorities of the Village. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Village Council of the Village of 

Forest Park, Cook County, Illinois, as follows: 

Section 1. The recitals set forth in the preamble are hereby incorporated herein by 

reference and made a part of this Ordinance. 

Section 2. The Planning and Zoning Commission has reviewed the Application and 

findings for the Variations and has forwarded its recommendation that the Village Council 

approve the Variations. 

Section 3. The Petitioner is hereby granted the following Variations: 

1. Reduce the lot size from 6250 sq ft to 3125 sq ft. 

2. Reduce minimum lot width from 50’ to 25’. 

3. Reduce the required north side yard setbacks from 3’ to 2.6’. 

 Section 4. The corporate authorities of the Village hereby make the findings of fact as 

follows: 

  
1. Carrying out the strict letter of the lot and yard requirements would be a practical 

difficulty and while the request includes the three (3) Variations, they are all related to 
the same issue of a substandard lot of record. 

2. The unique physical condition is not that this is the only 25’ lot in the Village but rather 
that until a standardized remedy for these substandard lots is approved, there will 
remain serious limitations to what kind of development and redevelopment is possible.    

3. The lot has been platted for many decades at 25’ as many lots in the Village have. The 
subsequent zoning code amendments that required a minimum lot width in excess of 
the existing conditions has created hundreds of nonconformities with little in the way 
of remedy.  

4. The majority of properties surrounding this site are on substandard lots that do not 
conform with the zoning ordinance. The proposed project is in scale with surrounding 
homes. 

5. Given the high number of 25’ lots in the Village, it is likely that new development or 
redevelopment on said lots will face similar issues. No special privilege is involved.  

6. The proposed Project would be harmonious in that the Variations would be more in 
line with surrounding homes and provide infill on a vacant lot. 



5 
1181102.1 

7. The requested Variations would not adversely impact the character of the surrounding 
neighborhood as described above but would rather create a modern dwelling on an 
underutilized lot. 

8. Strict compliance with the lot requirements would make the Project not feasible and 
would be incompatible with the surrounding character of the neighborhood. 

 
 Section 5. The granting of the Variations herein as requested by Petitioner for the 

Subject Property is subject to the following terms and conditions: 

 

1. The single family home shall be constructed in strict compliance with the Variations and 
pursuant to the “Project Documents” submitted by the applicant and available in the 
Department of Public Health and Safety.  

2. All construction shall comply with the Building Code of the Village of Forest Park, with 
final plans subject to review and approval by the Village Engineer and Director of Public 
Health and Safety.  

3. No building permits and no Certificate of Occupancy for the Subject Property shall be 
issued by the Department of Public Health and Safety to the Petitioner unless all debts 
owed to the Village of Forest Park by the Petitioner have been paid in full prior to the 
issuance of such permits or certificate.  

4. The Variations shall expire one (1) year after its passage and approval unless a permit has 
been issued and construction has commenced within that time period.  

5. Any violation of the above conditions will result in a violation of the Municipal code of 
the Village of Forest Park and the Petitioner may be subject to fines for each day said 
violation exists. 

 
 Section 6. The approval of the Variations for the Project on the Subject Property 

are subject to all other conditions and requirements imposed and set forth in the Village Code, 

as amended, and all other duly enacted ordinances of the Village. The project shall commence 

in strict compliance with the testimony presented on behalf of and by the Petitioner and the 

following plans (“Project Plans”): 

1. Application for Zoning Action, (signed 10/23/2023) 

2. Project Narrative, undated 

3. Applicant's response to Standards for Zoning [Variation], undated, 5 pages 

4. Location Map, undated, 1 page 

5. Plat of Survey, dated 4/6/2022, 1 page 

6. Site Plan (A1), dated 5/26/2023, 1 page 

7. Interior Plans (A2), dated 5/26/2023, 1 page 

8. Building Elevations (A3), dated 5/26/2023, 1 page 



6 
1181102.1 

 Section 7. This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect upon is passage and 

approval in the manner provided by law. 

PASSED by the Council of the Village of Forest Park, Cook County, Illinois this 18th day of 

December, 2023. 

 AYES:___________________________________________ 

 NAYS:___________________________________________ 

 ABSENT:_________________________________________ 

 

        APPROVED: 
 
 
 

______________________________ 
        Rory E. Hoskins, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
__________________________ 
Vanessa Moritz, Village Clerk 
 

 



1180397-1 

RESOLUTION NO. R-________-23 
 

A RESOLUTION TO APPROVE AND AUTHORIZE THE EXECUTION  
OF A PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERING SERVICES PROPOSAL FOR  

PHASE II DESIGN FOR THE ROOSEVELT ROAD LANDSCAPE ISLAND 
 REMOVAL PROJECT BY AND BETWEEN CHRISTOPHER B. BURKE 

ENGINEERING, LTD. AND THE VILLAGE OF FOREST PARK  
 

WHEREAS, the Village of Forest Park ("Village") has enacted and proposes to 

implement the Roosevelt Road Landscape Island Removal Project ("Project"); and 

 WHEREAS, due to the nature of the Project, it is hereby determined that the professional 

services of a professional engineer are required to facilitate implementation of the Project and the 

ability and fitness of Christopher B. Burke Engineering, Ltd. ("Burke") will be integral in the 

completion of the Project; and 

 WHEREAS, the Village has a prior, satisfactory relationship with Burke, and it is 

advisable, necessary and in the best interest of the Village to enter into a contract with Burke to 

provide professional engineering services for Phase II design to coordinate and implement the 

Project. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the Village of Forest Park, 

Cook County, Illinois, as follows: 

 Section 1. The facts and statements contained in the preambles to this Resolution are 

found to be true and correct and are hereby adopted as part of this Resolution. 

 Section 2. It is hereby determined that it is advisable, necessary and in the public 

interest that the Village contract for professional engineering services for the Phase II design and 

bidding assistance to facilitate implementation of the Project. 

 Section 3. That certain "Roosevelt Road Landscape Island Removal Project - 

Professional Engineering Services Proposal for Phase II Design" between the Village and Burke 

for the estimated fee of Five Thousand One Hundred Twenty and 00/100 Dollars ($5,120.00) 

("Proposal"), a copy of which is attached hereto marked as Exhibit A, for the Project is hereby 

approved. 

Section 4. The Mayor be and is hereby authorized and directed to execute and the 

Village Clerk to attest on behalf of the Village the Proposal for the Project substantially in the 

form attached hereto as Exhibit A, with such changes therein as may be approved by the officials 



1180397-1 

executing the same, their execution thereof to constitute conclusive evidence of the approval of 

such changes, if any. 

Section 5. This Resolution shall be in full force and effect upon its passage in the 

manner provided by law. 

 PASSED by the Council of the Village of Forest Park, Cook County, Illinois this 18th day 
of December, 2023. 

 
AYES:  ___________________ 
 
NAYS:  ___________________ 
 
ABSENT:  _________________ 
 
 APPROVED by me this 18th day of December, 2023. 
 
  
        
 ___________________________________ 
       Rory E. Hoskins, Mayor 
 
ATTESTED and filed in my office, 
and published in pamphlet form 
this _______ day of December, 2023. 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
Vanessa Moritz, Village Clerk 



1180397-1 

EXHIBIT A 
 

Roosevelt Road Landscape Island Removal Project –  
Professional Engineering Services Proposal for Phase II Design 

 
 
 
 



1180397-1 



1180397-1 



1180397-1 



1180397-1 



1180397-1 



1180397-1 



1180397-1 



1180397-1 



1180397-1 



1180397-1 



1180397-1 



1180397-1 



1180397-1 



1180397-1 

 



1179412_1   

 
 

RESOLUTION NO. R- ____ -23 
 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING A 2024 PARATRANSIT SERVICE  
PROVIDER AGREEMENT BETWEEN SUBURBAN BUS DIVISION  

OF THE REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY (PACE)  
AND THE VILLAGE OF FOREST PARK  

 
 WHEREAS, the Village has previously entered into a Paratransit Service Provider 
Agreement with the Suburban Bus Division of the Regional Transportation Authority (PACE) 
which expires on December 31, 2023; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the corporate authorities of the Village of Forest Park deem it to be in the 
best interest of the residents of Forest Park to maintain and operate a public bus service known as 
the PACE “Dial-A-Ride Bus Service” for the elderly and disabled for all service hours, as well 
as for members of the general public for limited hours and limited destinations. 
 
 WHEREAS, the Village of Forest Park and the Suburban Bus Division of the Regional 
Transportation Authority (PACE) have agreed to enter into a service provider agreement to 
obtain public bus service within the Village of Forest Park for the year 2024 in exchange for the 
payment of operating, capital and other expenses; and  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and Council of the Village of 
Forest Park, Cook County, Illinois, as follows: 
 
 Section 1. That certain 2024 Paratransit Service Provider Agreement by and between 
Suburban Bus Division of the Regional Transportation Authority (PACE) and the Village of 
Forest Park, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit A, is hereby authorized and approved.   
 
 Section 2. The Mayor and the Village Clerk are hereby authorized and directed to 
execute and attest, respectively, said 2024 Paratransit Service Provider Agreement. 
 

Resolved this 18th day of December, 2023. 
 

AYES: ___________________________ 
NAYS: __________________________ 
ABSENT: _________________________ 
 
APPROVED by me this 18th day of December, 2023. 
 
 

     ____________________________________ 
Rory E. Hoskins, Mayor   

ATTESTED and filed in my office, 
and published in pamphlet form 
this ______ day of December, 2023. 
 
 
________________________________ 
Vanessa Moritz, Village Clerk 



1179412_1   

EXHIBIT A 
 

2024 Paratransit Service Provider Agreement 



1179412_1   



 

Page 1 of 25 
Pace Paratransit                                                                                                                                              2024 Paratransit Service Provider Agreement 

2024 PARATRANSIT SERVICE PROVIDER AGREEMENT 
 
This 2024 paratransit service provider agreement (“Agreement”) is between Pace, the Suburban Bus 
Division of the Regional Transportation Authority, an Illinois municipal corporation (“Pace”), and the 
Village of Forest Park, an Illinois unit of local government (“Service Provider”).                                                                                                                                                     

 
Pace was established under the Regional Transportation Authority Act (the “Act”) (70 ILCS 3615/1.01 et 
seq.) to aid and assist public transportation in the six-county northeastern Illinois area. 

 
Pursuant to the Act, Pace may enter into service provider agreements with governmental and private 
sector entities to obtain public bus service and to provide for payment of operating, capital, and other 
expenses. 

 
Pace wants Service Provider to furnish certain transportation services (“Services”) in accordance with 
the terms and conditions of this Agreement. 

 
The parties agree as follows: 

 
 ARTICLE 1 
 SCOPE, DESCRIPTION, AND CHANGES IN SERVICES 
 
Section 1.1.  Services. 
 

A. Scope and Description of Services. Throughout the Term, Service Provider shall 
provide the Services specified in exhibit D. As an integral part of providing the 
Services, Service Provider shall: 

 
1. comply with the Pace Paratransit Municipal Manual (“Manual”); 
 
2. take reasonable steps to ensure the safety, comfort, and convenience of the 

public utilizing the Services; 
 
3. comply with all policies, practices, procedures, terms, and conditions as Pace 

may direct regarding: 
 
 a. collection, security, and disposition of fares and other Transportation 

Revenue; 
 
 b. passes, tickets, coupons, tokens, transfers, transfer systems, 

interconnections between different modes of transportation, and 
interconnections between different transportation services; and 

 
 c. the availability and distribution of schedules and other printed 

material for the Services and related transportation services; 
 



 

Page 2 of 25 
Pace Paratransit                                                                                                                                              2024 Paratransit Service Provider Agreement 

4. comply with all conditions of, and all laws, regulations, policies, practices, and 
procedures applicable to, any federal, state, or local funds or grants that Pace 
and/or Service Provider receives in connection with the Services or 
Equipment; 

 
5. conduct the Services and Service Provider’s operations and business as they 

relate to the Services in a safe, sound, economical, and efficient manner; and 
 
6. comply with all Pace efforts to improve service efficiency. 

 
B. Changes in Services. 

 
1. Service Provider-Initiated Change.  
 
 a. Except as provided in section 1.1(B)(1)(b) and (c), Service Provider 

shall not initiate, permit, or implement any change to the Services 
without Pace’s prior written approval. To propose a change to the 
Services, Service Provider must submit a written proposal to Pace at 
least 45 days in advance of the date on which the proposed change is 
to take effect.  

 
 b. Service Provider may implement a minor operational change that will 

neither affect any fare or system for passes, transfers, 
interconnections, or similar programs nor substantially affect the 
service area or service hours, provided (i) Service Provider gives Pace 
at least 30 days’ advance notice of Service Provider’s intent to 
implement that change and (ii) Pace does not notify Service Provider 
of Pace’s disapproval of that change within 15 days after receiving 
Service Provider’s notice.  

 
 c. Service Provider may make a minor operational change of an 

emergency nature without Pace’s prior written approval, provided (i) 
that change does not increase Pace’s reimbursement and (ii) Service 
Provider notifies Pace of that change as soon as possible but in no 
event later than 12 hours after Service Provider implements that 
change. 

 
 2. Pace-Initiated Change. Upon prior written notice to Service Provider, Pace 

may change the Services to reflect decisions made by Pace regarding the 
design and operation of the Services. 

 
3. Pace Discretion. Nothing in this section 1.1(B) requires Pace to approve any 

change to the Services, and Pace may withhold its approval of any change to 
the Services. 

 



 

Page 3 of 25 
Pace Paratransit                                                                                                                                              2024 Paratransit Service Provider Agreement 

Section 1.2. Force Majeure. A party will not hold the other party liable for damages or be deemed 
to have breached this Agreement for failure or delay in performing any obligation under this 
Agreement if the failure or delay is caused by or results from causes beyond the reasonable control 
of and without the fault or negligence of the affected party, including war, fire, flood, other acts of 
God, civil disturbance, a terrorist act, pandemic, epidemic, or a labor strike or lockout. The affected 
party shall promptly notify the other party of those force majeure circumstances, specifying the 
cause and the expected duration of the delay, and shall promptly undertake all reasonable steps 
necessary to cure those force majeure circumstances. If a condition of force majeure continues for 
more than 30 consecutive days, Pace, at its option and after notifying Service Provider, may 
terminate this Agreement immediately for convenience. Where an event of force majeure occurs 
after a party’s failure or delay in performance, the breaching party will not be released from liability. 
 
 ARTICLE 2 
 EQUIPMENT 
 
Section 2.1.  Provision of Equipment by Pace. 
 

A. Absolute Right. If exhibit B contains the word “NONE,” and Pace provides no Pace 
Equipment to Service Provider during the Term, sections 2.1, 2.2, and 2.3 will be of 
no force or effect; otherwise, those sections will apply to all Pace  Equipment 
specified in exhibit B. Pace may (1) determine the number and type of Pace 
Equipment, (2) substitute or replace Pace Equipment, and (3) direct the return of 
Pace Equipment to Pace or its designee; provided, however, in the absence of Service 
Provider’s fault or other good cause, Pace will not take action that would prevent or 
have a material adverse effect on Service Provider’s ability to provide the Services. 

 
B. Inventory and Documentation. Service Provider shall comply with all procedures for 

handling Pace Equipment in accordance with the Manual. Service Provider shall 
cooperate with Pace in developing and maintaining an accurate inventory of all Pace 
Equipment in Service Provider’s possession. Service Provider shall complete and 
process all documentation required by Pace to evidence and record Service 
Provider’s receipt, possession, return, and transfer of Pace Equipment. Copies of that 
documentation are incorporated into exhibit B as if fully set forth in that exhibit. 

 
C. No Consideration. Pace will not require Service Provider to pay any separate 

consideration for Service Provider’s use of Pace Equipment during the Term. 
 
D. Acceptance of Pace Equipment. Service Provider shall accept delivery of Pace 

Equipment at the place(s) within the Region at the time(s) as Pace directs. If Service 
Provider unreasonably delays its acceptance of or neglects, refuses, or fails to accept 
any Pace Equipment at those designated place(s) and time(s), Service Provider shall 
reimburse all costs and expenses that Pace incurred from that delay, neglect, refusal, 
or failure immediately upon Pace’s written demand. Those costs and expenses will 
not be an Operating Expenditure for purposes of this Agreement. 

 



 

Page 4 of 25 
Pace Paratransit                                                                                                                                              2024 Paratransit Service Provider Agreement 

E. Returns and Substitutions. Service Provider shall deliver any Pace Equipment, which 
Pace designates Service Provider to return or transfer, to the place(s) within the 
Region at the time(s) as Pace directs. Service Provider shall accept delivery of any 
substitute Pace Equipment at the place(s) within the Region at the time(s) as Pace 
directs. All terms and conditions of this Agreement will apply to substitute Pace 
Equipment. 

 
F. Surplus. Any Pace Vehicle not scheduled for use in the Services and not required as 

spares for ten days or more will be considered a surplus Pace Vehicle. Any other Pace 
Equipment that Pace determines is not required for the Services or other services 
pursuant to this Agreement will be considered surplus Pace Equipment. Pace may 
require Service Provider to return surplus Pace Vehicles and/or surplus Pace 
Equipment to Pace, transfer them to Pace's designee, or store them at locations as 
Pace may direct. 

 
G. Repossession. If Service Provider fails to return or deliver any Pace Equipment as 

Pace directs or use, repair, or maintain any Pace Equipment in accordance with this 
Agreement, Pace may enter any premises where the Pace Equipment is or may be 
located and take possession of and remove the Pace Equipment without demand, 
legal process, or a breach of the peace. Service Provider shall not prosecute or assist 
in the prosecution of any claim, suit, action, or other proceeding arising out of that 
repossession. Service Provider shall reimburse Pace for all costs and expenses, 
including reasonable attorneys’ fees, that Pace incurs in connection with any claim, 
suit, action, or other proceeding arising out of any matter in this paragraph. Those 
costs and expenses will not be an Operating Expenditure under this Agreement. 

 
H. Inspection. Pace may inspect the Pace Equipment at any time, with or without prior 

notice to Service Provider. Pace may demand that Service Provider furnish a written 
statement specifying the condition of the Pace Equipment or any part of the Pace 
Equipment. Service Provider shall furnish that statement to Pace within ten days after 
receiving Pace’s demand. If Pace determines, in its sole discretion, that Service 
Provider has not maintained any Pace Equipment in accordance with this Agreement, 
Pace will provide Service Provider with a written report of the deficiencies. If that 
report discloses non-safety-related deficiencies, Service Provider shall correct them 
within 30 days. If that report discloses safety-related deficiencies, Service Provider 
shall immediately remove the affected Pace Vehicle from service and correct them 
as soon as practicable prior to returning the affected Pace Vehicle to service. Pace 
may appoint a designee to perform one of more the functions assigned to Pace under 
this section 2.1(H). 

 
I. Return of Pace Equipment and Records Upon Termination or Expiration of 

Agreement. Immediately upon termination or expiration of this Agreement, Service 
Provider shall surrender the following items to Pace and deliver them to the place(s) 
within the Region at the time(s) that Pace directs: 

 



 

Page 5 of 25 
Pace Paratransit                                                                                                                                              2024 Paratransit Service Provider Agreement 

   (1) all Pace Equipment, which must be in good operating order, repair, and 
condition, reasonable wear and tear and normal depreciation excepted; and 

 
   (2) all records pertaining to all Pace Vehicles and other Pace Equipment, 

including, without limitation, all preventative maintenance reports and repair 
reports. 

 
If Service Provider fails to comply with this section 2.1(I), Pace may inspect the Service 
Provider’s premises and remove those items that remain in Service Provider’s 
possession. Pace, in its sole discretion, will determine the condition of surrendered 
and returned Pace Equipment and the extent of any wear and tear, depreciation, and 
damage. Service Provider will be responsible for making all repairs that Pace deems 
necessary to place the surrendered and returned Pace Equipment in the condition 
required by sections 2.1 and 2.2. Service Provider shall complete those repairs within 
21 days following Pace’s written demand that Service Provider make the repairs. If 
those repairs are the result of Service Provider's failure to comply with this 
Agreement, Pace will not reimburse Service Provider for the repair costs. If Service 
Provider fails to make those repairs, then Pace will make them, and Service Provider 
shall reimburse Pace for the repair costs within 30 days after receiving a receipt for 
those costs from Pace. 

 
J. Title. Service Provider acknowledges that Pace owns the Pace Equipment. Nothing in 

this Agreement affects Pace’s absolute ownership of and title to the Pace Equipment. 
Service Provider shall not obtain, acquire, or represent itself as having obtained or 
acquired any property or other interest in the Pace Equipment, except the right to 
use the Pace Equipment for the purposes and on the conditions stated in this 
Agreement. Service Provider shall not allow the Pace Equipment, or any part of it, to 
be pledged, seized, or held for any tax, debt, lien, or other obligation. If the Pace 
Equipment, or any part of it, becomes subject to or encumbered by any tax, debt, 
lien, or other obligation (each, an “Encumbrance”) during the Term or before the 
delivery of the Pace Equipment to Pace after the Term, Service Provider shall, subject 
to its right to protest in good faith that Encumbrance, promptly pay or discharge that 
Encumbrance so that the Pace Equipment is no longer subject to or encumbered by 
it. 

 
K. Warranty. Neither Pace nor Service Provider is the manufacturer of the Pace 

Equipment or is the manufacturers’ agent; therefore, neither Pace nor Service 
Provider makes any express or implied warranty of any nature regarding the Pace 
Equipment, including but not limited to its merchantability or fitness for any 
particular purpose, design or condition, workmanship, freedom from latent 
defects, compliance with the requirements of any law, rule, specification, or 
contract, or non-infringement of any patent, trademark or license. Provided Pace 
or the manufacturer has supplied required warranty documents to Service Provider,  

 



 

Page 6 of 25 
Pace Paratransit                                                                                                                                              2024 Paratransit Service Provider Agreement 

 Service Provider shall take all actions it is authorized to take under this Agreement to 
preserve all manufacturers’ warranties regarding the Pace Equipment. This 
Agreement will not operate to release or waive any rights of Pace or Service Provider 
against any person or entity not a party to this Agreement, including the 
manufacturer of the Pace Equipment. 

 
Section 2.2. Maintenance of Pace Equipment by Service Provider. 
 

A. Maintenance Requirements. Service Provider shall maintain all Pace Equipment (1) 
in good mechanical condition in conformity with all applicable safety practices, laws, 
and regulations and (2) in accordance with this Agreement, all maintenance policies, 
practices, procedures, conditions, and requirements in the Manual, and all 
manufacturers’ maintenance schedules and warranty requirements. 

 
 Service Provider shall keep the exterior and interior of all Pace Vehicles in a neat, 

clean, and first-class condition. Service Provider shall maintain all Pace Vehicles to 
meet the requirements of the Illinois Department of Transportation and the  Manual 
and shall ensure that a valid Illinois Department of Transportation safety inspection 
sticker is affixed to them at all times. Service Provider will be responsible for the 
payment of all Pace Vehicle maintenance and repair costs. 

 
B. Maintenance Records. Service Provider shall prepare and maintain accurate records 

relating to all maintenance work performed by or for Service Provider on all Pace 
Equipment and, in that regard, shall comply with this Agreement and all applicable 
Pace policies, practices, procedures, conditions, and requirements in the Manual. 

 
 For each Pace Vehicle, Service Provider shall maintain a separate maintenance file 

containing all maintenance records for the Pace Vehicle. Service Provider shall also 
complete, maintain, and transmit to Pace all maintenance forms required by Pace’s 
preventative maintenance program and any other records requested by Pace in 
connection with the Pace Vehicle, including without limitation maintenance and fuel 
consumption records. 

 
Section 2.3. Operation of Pace Equipment by Service Provider. 
 

A. General Operating Standard. Service Provider shall use all Pace Equipment (1) in 
accordance with this Agreement, the operating procedures in the Manual, and all 
applicable federal, state, and local laws and regulations and (2) solely for the purpose 
of providing the Services or as otherwise approved in advance in writing by Pace. 

 
B. Identification Markings and Decals. Service Provider shall not remove, change, or 

obstruct any Pace Equipment identification markings or decals affixed by Pace. 
Unless otherwise approved in advance in writing by Pace, Service Provider shall not 
affix or display any identification marking or decal (other than those supplied by Pace) 
on any Pace Equipment. 



 

Page 7 of 25 
Pace Paratransit                                                                                                                                              2024 Paratransit Service Provider Agreement 

 
C. Storage. Service Provider shall store all Pace Equipment at locations that will protect 

it from vandalism and theft. Indoor storage must have fire protection that complies 
with all applicable federal, state, and local laws and regulations and must have the 
approval of the Fire Underwriters Laboratory. 

 
D. Fareboxes. Except as approved in writing in advance by Pace, Service Provider shall 

utilize only fareboxes and related equipment that Pace provides. Service Provider 
shall install those fareboxes and maintain them in good condition. 

 
Section 2.4.  Duty to Maintain Service Provider Vehicles. Service Provider shall maintain all Service 
Provider Equipment (1) in good mechanical condition in conformity with all applicable safety 
practices, laws, and regulations and (2) in accordance with this Agreement, all maintenance policies, 
practices, procedures, conditions, and requirements in the Manual, and all manufacturers’ 
maintenance schedules and warranty requirements.  

 
Service Provider shall keep the exterior and interior of all Service Provider Vehicles in a neat, clean, 
and first-class condition. Service Provider shall maintain all Service Provider Vehicles to meet the 
requirements of the Illinois Department of Transportation and the Manual and shall ensure that a 
valid Illinois Department of Transportation safety inspection sticker is affixed to them at all times. 
Service Provider will be responsible for the payment of all Service Provider Vehicle maintenance and 
repair costs. 
 
 ARTICLE 3 
 EMPLOYEES 
 
Section 3.1. Staff. Service Provider shall furnish competent and qualified staff, who may be Service 
Provider’s employees, to provide the Services in accordance with this Agreement. No Service 
Provider staff member will be an employee or agent of Pace or the Regional Transportation 
Authority. 
 
Vehicle drivers providing the Services must pass Pace’s driver training program prior to providing 
the Services, be courteous to their passengers, and maintain a neat, clean appearance. Service 
Provider shall comply with all federal and Pace requirements relating to drug and alcohol testing of 
Service Provider’s staff. Failure by Service Provider or any Third-Party Provider to comply with those 
drug and alcohol testing requirements will constitute grounds for nonpayment of the Service 
Reimbursement Amount for the duration of that noncompliance. 
 
No Service Provider staff member may operate a Vehicle in the Services or perform any safety-
sensitive tasks without first receiving Pace’s approval. 
 
Section 3.2.  Employment Contracts and Labor Agreements. Service Provider shall notify Pace of 
any labor negotiations Service Provider is conducting with its employees and shall inform Pace of 
the status and progress of those negotiations. 
 



 

Page 8 of 25 
Pace Paratransit                                                                                                                                              2024 Paratransit Service Provider Agreement 

ARTICLE 4 
COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS 

 
Section 4.1. Compliance with Federal, State, and Local Laws. Service Provider shall comply with all 
federal, state, and local laws, statutes, ordinances, rules, and regulations applicable to this 
Agreement (the “Laws”), including section 2-105(A)(4) of the Illinois Human Rights Act (775 ILCS 5/2-
105(A)(4)), and those Laws related to: 
 
 A. the payment of minimum wages to employees, limitations upon the employment of 

minors, minimum fair wage standards for minors, the payment of wages due 
employees, and all applicable regulations established to protect the health and safety 
of employees, passengers, and the public; 

 
 B. employee protection, if required, under section 5333(b) of the Urban Mass 

Transportation Act of 1964, as amended, 49 U.S.C. § 5333(b), and section 2.16 of the 
Regional Transportation Authority Act, 70 ILCS 3615/2.16, for persons employed by 
Service Provider to provide the Services; and 

 
 C. anti-discrimination and equal employment opportunity Laws, including but not 

limited to the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967, as amended, 29 U.S.C. 
§ 621 et seq., Title VII of the Civil Rights Acts of 1964, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e 
et seq., the Civil Rights Acts of 1866 and 1871, 42 U.S.C. §§ 1981 and 1983, the Illinois 
Human Rights Act, 775 ILCS 5/1-101 et seq., section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 
1973, 29 U.S.C. § 794, and the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, 42 U.S.C. § 
12101 et seq. 

 
  1. Service Provider shall not discriminate against any employees or applicants 

for employment because of race, color, religion, sex, sexual orientation, 
gender identity, or national origin. Service Provider shall take affirmative 
action to ensure that it employs applicants, and treats employees during 
employment, without regard to their race, color, religion, sex, sexual 
orientation, gender identity, or national origin. That action includes, but is not 
limited to, the following: employment, upgrading, demotion, or transfer; 
recruitment or recruitment advertising; layoff or termination; rates of pay or 
other forms of compensation; and selection for training, including 
apprenticeship. Service Provider shall insert the provisions of this section 
4.1(C)(1) in all subcontracts relating to the provision of the Services. 

 
  2. Prior to the execution of this Agreement, Service Provider shall furnish Pace 

with evidence that it has filed with the Illinois Department of Human Rights 
(the “Department”) an affirmative action program covering Service Provider’s 
employment practices, if the Department requires that program. Service 
Provider shall promptly furnish Pace with a copy of all documents Service 
Provider filed with the Department. 

 



 

Page 9 of 25 
Pace Paratransit                                                                                                                                              2024 Paratransit Service Provider Agreement 

  3. In the event of Service Provider’s noncompliance with the provisions of the 
equal employment opportunity clause set forth in section 4.1(C)(3)(a)-(g) or 
with the Illinois Human Rights Act, Service Provider may be declared ineligible 
for future contracts or subcontracts with the State of Illinois or any of its 
political subdivisions or municipal corporations, and this Agreement may be 
cancelled or voided in whole or in part, and other sanctions or penalties may 
be imposed or remedies invoked as provided by statute or regulation. During 
the performance of this Agreement, Service Provider agrees as follows: 

 
  a. That it shall not discriminate against any employee or applicant for 

employment because of race, color, religion, sex, sexual orientation, 
marital status, order of protection status, national origin or ancestry, 
citizenship status, age, physical or mental disability unrelated to 
ability, military status or an unfavorable discharge from military 
service; and, further, that it shall examine all job classifications to 
determine if minority persons or women are underutilized and will 
take appropriate affirmative action to rectify any such 
underutilization; 

 
  b. That, if it hires additional employees in order to perform this 

Agreement or any portion hereof, it shall determine the availability (in 
accordance with Ill. Admin. Code tit. 44, part 750) of minorities and 
women in the areas from which it may reasonably recruit, and it shall 
hire for each job classification for which employees are hired in a way 
that minorities and women are not underutilized; 

 
  c. That, in all solicitations or advertisements for employees placed by it 

or on its behalf, it shall state that all applicants will be afforded equal 
opportunity without discrimination because of race, color, religion, 
sex, sexual orientation, marital status, order of protection status, 
national origin or ancestry, citizenship status, age, physical or mental 
disability unrelated to ability, military status or an unfavorable 
discharge from military service; 

 
  d. That it shall send to each labor organization or representative of 

workers with which it has or is bound by a collective bargaining or 
other agreement or understanding, a notice advising the labor 
organization or representative of Service Provider’s obligation under 
the Illinois Human Rights Act and Ill. Admin. Code tit. 44, part 750. If 
any labor organization or representative fails or refuses to cooperate 
with Service Provider in its efforts to comply with the Illinois Human 
Rights Act and Ill. Admin. Code tit. 44, part 750, Service Provider shall 
promptly notify the Department and Pace and shall recruit employees 
from other sources when necessary to fulfill its obligations under this 
Agreement; 



 

Page 10 of 25 
Pace Paratransit                                                                                                                                              2024 Paratransit Service Provider Agreement 

 
  e. That it shall submit reports as required by Ill. Admin. Code tit. 44, part 

750, furnish all relevant information as may from time to time be 
requested by the Department or Pace, and in all respects comply with 
the Illinois Human Rights Act and Ill. Admin. Code tit. 44, part 750; 

 
  f. That it shall permit access to all relevant books, records, accounts, and 

work sites by personnel of Pace and the Department for purposes of 
investigation to ascertain compliance with the Illinois Human Rights 
Act and the Department’s rules and regulations; 

 
  g. That it shall include verbatim or by reference the provisions of the 

equal employment opportunity clause set forth in section 4.1(C)(3)(a)-
(g) in every subcontract awarded under which any portion of the 
obligations under this Agreement is undertaken or assumed, so that 
the provisions will be binding upon the subcontractor. In the same 
manner as with other provisions of this Agreement, Service Provider 
will be liable for compliance with applicable provisions of this clause 
by subcontractors; and further Service Provider shall promptly notify 
Pace and the Department in the event any subcontractor fails or 
refuses to comply with those provisions. In addition, Service Provider 
shall not utilize any subcontractor declared by the Illinois Human 
Rights Commission to be ineligible for contracts or subcontracts with 
the State of Illinois or any of its political subdivisions or municipal 
corporations. 

 
 4. Disadvantaged Business Enterprises. Service Provider shall not discriminate 

on the basis of race, color, national origin, or sex in the performance of this 
Agreement. Service Provider shall carry out applicable requirements of 49 
C.F.R. part 26 in the award and administration of DOT-assisted contracts. 
Service Provider’s failure to carry out these requirements is a material breach 
of this Agreement, which may result in the termination of this Agreement or 
such other remedy as Pace deems appropriate. 

 
Section 4.2. Failure to Comply. In the event Service Provider's noncompliance with any federal, 
state, or local anti-discrimination or equal employment or business opportunity law, including but 
not limited to those identified in section 4.1, results in Service Provider being declared ineligible for 
future contracts or subcontracts with any department, agency, establishment, or instrumentality of 
the federal government or with State of Illinois or any of its political subdivisions or municipal 
corporations, Pace may cancel or void this Agreement, in whole or in part, impose other sanctions 
or penalties, and/or invoke other remedies as provided by the Laws. 
 
 
 
 



 

Page 11 of 25 
Pace Paratransit                                                                                                                                              2024 Paratransit Service Provider Agreement 

ARTICLE 5 
REPORTS AND RECORDS 

 
Section 5.1.  Reports, Forms, and Statements Required. Service Provider shall furnish Pace with all 
reports in accordance with the Manual. In addition, upon Pace’s written request, Service Provider 
shall furnish Pace with: 
 

A. a monthly listing of any reports and documents related to the Services that Service 
Provider files with any government or government agency; 

 
B. all written forms and documentation that are required for the administration of 

Pace’s programs concerning students, the elderly, and the handicapped (Service 
Provider shall furnish one or more of those forms and documentation to the United 
States and Illinois Departments of Transportation upon Pace's written request); 

 
C. all correspondence, papers, notices, accident reports, and documents that Service 

Provider receives in connection with any claim or demand involving or related to the 
Services or the Equipment; 

 
D. all records that are required pursuant to section 2.1(I); and 
 
E. other reports, forms, and statements as this Agreement, the Laws, or order of any 

duly constituted authority may require. 
 
Section 5.2. Records. Service Provider shall create and maintain accurate and complete records of 
the Services that Service Provider performs and the time that Service Provider spends, the materials, 
equipment, and supplies that Service Provider purchases, and the costs that Service Provider incurs 
in performing the Services, including all records required by this Agreement, the Manual, or the 
Laws. Subject to section 2.1(I), unless Pace consents in advance in writing to the disposal or 
destruction of those records, Service Provider shall make those records available for review, 
inspection, and audit in accordance with section 5.3 during the Term and for three years thereafter 
or such longer period as required by law or applicable grant or as necessary for any pending litigation 
or other claim relating to this Agreement or the Services (the “record retention period”); provided, 
however, prior to Service Provider’s disposal or destruction of those records following the record 
retention period, Service Provider shall notify Pace of the date on which Service Provider intends to 
dispose of or destroy those records, which date must be at least 90 days after the effective date of 
that notice. Pace will have 90 days after receipt of Service Provider’s notice to notify Service Provider 
to not dispose of or destroy those records and to deliver them to Pace or its designee, at Pace’s 
expense, on a confidential basis if appropriate. 
 
Section 5.3. Inspections and Audits. With or without prior notice to Service Provider, Pace may 
review, inspect, and/or audit the Services and all information and records related to the Services 
during and following Service Provider’s performance of the Services. Pace shall perform its review,  
 



 

Page 12 of 25 
Pace Paratransit                                                                                                                                              2024 Paratransit Service Provider Agreement 

inspection, and/or audit in a manner that will not unduly delay or interfere with Service Provider’s 
performance under this Agreement. Service Provider shall cooperate with Pace and provide 
reasonable facilities to assist Pace with its review, inspection, and/or audit. Pace may perform its 
review, inspection, and/or audit through one or more of its officers, employees, or other designated 
agents. Service Provider shall promptly remit to Pace any overpayments that Pace identified as a 
result of its audit. 
 
 ARTICLE 6 
 THIRD-PARTY PROVIDERS 
 
Section 6.1. Requirements. Service Provider shall follow the procedures in the Manual for obtaining 
and utilizing Third-Party Providers. Service Provider’s contracts and agreements with Third-Party 
Providers must (A) be in writing, (B) be made in accordance with applicable laws, (C) require Third-
Party Providers to comply with this Agreement, (D) incorporate this Agreement as an exhibit, (E) not 
release Service Provider from any obligations under this Agreement, and (F) not operate as a waiver 
of any of Pace’s rights under this Agreement. Service Provider shall competitively solicit that part of 
the Services provided by Third-Party Providers as required by Pace. Provider shall furnish Pace with 
a copy of all Third-Party Provider contracts and agreements upon their execution or upon the 
execution of this Agreement, whichever is later. If a Third-Party Provider will use any Pace 
Equipment, the Third-Party Provider must execute a written sublease in a form approved by Pace 
prior to the use of that Pace Equipment. 
 

ARTICLE 7 
INDEMNIFICATION 

 
Section 7.1. General.  
 
 A.  Pace shall indemnify and defend Service Provider, Third-Party Providers, and their 

respective board members, directors, officers, employees, agents, and volunteers 
(collectively, the “Service Provider Indemnitees”) from and against all auto liability 
injuries, losses, damages, claims, suits, payments, settlements, judgments, demands, 
costs, and expenses, including attorneys’ fees, which may accrue against one or more 
Service Provider Indemnitees and which arise out of the use of Pace Vehicles in the 
Services, provided Service Indemnitees comply with the notice and cooperation 
requirements specified in section 8.2. Pace’s obligation to indemnify and defend 
under this section 7.1(A) does not extend to willful and wanton, reckless, criminal, or 
intentional conduct of Service Provider Indemnitees. 

 
 B.  Service Provider shall indemnify and defend, and shall require Third-Party Providers 

to indemnify and defend, Pace, the Regional Transportation Authority, and their 
respective board members, directors, officers, employees, agents, and volunteers 
(collectively, the “Pace Indemnitees”) from and against (1) the use of non-Pace 
Vehicles in the Services, (2) willful and wanton, reckless, criminal, or intentional 
conduct of Service Provider Indemnitees, (3) claims of one or more of Service 
Provider’s board members, directors, officers, employees, agents, or volunteers 



 

Page 13 of 25 
Pace Paratransit                                                                                                                                              2024 Paratransit Service Provider Agreement 

against one or more Pace Indemnitees, and (4) claims of one or more of Third-Party 
Providers’ board members, directors, officers, employees, agents, or volunteers 
against one or more Pace Indemnitees. 

 
Section 7.2.  Service Provider’s Damages. Except as provided in article 7 or article 8: (A) Pace will 
not be responsible to Service Provider and its representatives for any loss of business or other 
damage caused by an interruption of the Services; the time lost in repairing or replacing any Pace 
Equipment; any loss, injury, or damage arising out of or relating to Pace’s failure to deliver Pace 
Equipment; or any other losses or damages that Service Provider sustains under this Agreement; 
and (B) Pace assumes no liability or responsibility for any acts or omissions of Service Provider 
and/or its representatives or for any property that belongs to Service Provider or any other person 
or entity and that is damaged, lost, or stolen in the performance, or as a result of the performance, 
of this Agreement. 
 
 ARTICLE 8 
 INSURANCE PROGRAM AND INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 
 
Section 8.1. Requirements.  
 
 A. Service Provider shall comply and require Third-Party Providers to comply with the 

Manual for all Vehicles used in the Services whether those Vehicles are Pace Vehicles, 
Service Provider Vehicles, or Third-Party Provider-owned Vehicles. 

 
  B. Service Provider shall comply and require Third-Party Providers to comply with all 

accident and incident notification and reporting requirements in the Manual, 
including those requirements dealing with personnel standards and rules and drug 
and alcohol testing. 

 
  C. Upon notice from Pace specifying and documenting claims or other evidence of 

incompetence, inattention, carelessness, or other fault on the part of one or more of 
Service Provider Indemnitees, Service Provider shall promptly take, and require 
Third-Party Providers to promptly take, all lawful and reasonable steps to prevent 
claims or losses as a result of that incompetence, inattention, carelessness, or fault. 
This section 8.1 will not, however, be construed to require Service Provider or Third-
Party Providers to take any action in violation of their respective obligations under 
any labor agreement or other employment contract. 

 
Section 8.2. Insurance Program for Pace Vehicles. All Pace Vehicles used in the Services are included 
in Pace’s risk management program (the “Insurance Program”). The Insurance Program furnishes 
commercial auto liability coverage to Service Provider Indemnitees for any claims of bodily injury, 
death, or property damage arising directly out of the use of Pace Vehicles in the Services, within the 
scope of Pace’s self-insured retention and excess insurance, and subject to the following terms, 
conditions, and exclusions: 
 



 

Page 14 of 25 
Pace Paratransit                                                                                                                                              2024 Paratransit Service Provider Agreement 

A. Pace excludes coverage for claims, actions, and damages arising as the result of willful 
and wanton, reckless, criminal, or intentional conduct of Service Provider 
Indemnitees; 

 
 B. Pace excludes coverage for claims of injury or death brought directly or indirectly 

against Pace, Service Provider, or Third-Party Providers by one or more 
representatives of Service Provider or Third-Party Providers and arising out of or in 
connection with the Services;   

 
C. Pace’s self-insured retention and excess insurance are primary over any self-

insurance and/or insurance that Service Provider maintains and any self-insurance 
and/or insurance that Third-Party Providers maintain for claims within the scope of 
the Insurance Program; any self-insurance and/or insurance that Service Provider 
maintains and any self-insurance and/or insurance that Third-Party Providers 
maintain are in excess of Pace’s self-insured retention and policies of excess 
insurance, without right of contribution for claims within the scope of the Insurance 
Program; 

 
  D. Service Provider shall immediately notify and require its Third-Party Providers to 

immediately notify Pace of all accidents, incidents, claims, and lawsuits involving any 
Pace Vehicle used in the Services, including when a previously reported incident or 
accident results in a claim or lawsuit or a previously reported claim results in a 
lawsuit; 

 
  E. with respect to any lawsuit within the scope of the Insurance Program’s coverage, 

Pace shall defend Service Provider Indemnitees involved in that lawsuit and will select 
defense counsel and control the defense of that lawsuit. Pace will not defend Service 
Provider Indemnitees against any claims that are excluded from coverage as specified 
in this section 8.2. If a lawsuit includes claims that are both covered and excluded 
from coverage as specified in this section 8.2, Pace’s duty to defend only extends to 
those portions of that lawsuit that are within the scope of coverage as specified in 
this section 8.2 and not to any excluded claims. Pace’s duty to defend under this 
section 8.2(E) will cease when the limits of auto liability coverage of Pace’s excess 
insurance policies are exhausted; 

 
  F. Service Provider Indemnitees must cooperate with and assist Pace and any claims 

service agencies, investigators, and attorneys employed by or on behalf of Pace in 
the administration, investigation, and defense of all claims for bodily injury, property 
damage, or physical damage asserted against Pace and/or one or more Service 
Provider Indemnitees and arising out of the use of Pace Vehicles in the Services;  

 
 G. the failure of Service Provider Indemnitees to comply with the requirements of this 

section 8.2 will relieve Pace of all obligations that Pace may have to Service Provider 
Indemnitees under the Insurance Program as stated in this Agreement; and 

 



 

Page 15 of 25 
Pace Paratransit                                                                                                                                              2024 Paratransit Service Provider Agreement 

H. Service Provider Indemnitees will be an additional insured on Pace’s excess 
insurance. 

 
Section 8.3. Non-Pace Vehicles. Claims arising from non-Pace Vehicles used in the Services are not 
within the scope of the Insurance Program and are Service Provider’s sole responsibility. 
 
 ARTICLE 9 
 PAYMENT, BUDGET, AND ACCOUNTING 
 
Section 9.1. Maximum Service Reimbursement Amount. Pace shall pay to Service Provider a service 
reimbursement in an amount as limited by the Approved Budget, the paratransit reimbursement 
guidelines specified in exhibit C, and the other provisions of this article 9. Pace may change the 
paratransit reimbursement guidelines and/or level of fares, and those changed guidelines and/or 
fares will determine Paces maximum reimbursement obligation. Pace will notify Service Provider if 
Pace’s board of directors revises the paratransit reimbursement guidelines during the Term, and 
those revised guidelines will be effective 60 days after Service Provider’s receipt of that notice. 
 
Section 9.2. Payment of Reimbursement. Pace shall pay the service reimbursement in monthly 
installments based on Pace’s receipt of Service Provider’s Monthly Reports that are in accordance 
with the Manual. The monthly installment due for January and the monthly installment due for 
February will be one-twelfth of the Service Reimbursement Amount in accordance with the 
Approved Budget. The monthly installment due for any remaining month will be based on the 
Monthly Reports for the month that is two months prior to the month for which the monthly 
installment is due. Service Provider must submit the Monthly Reports to Pace by the close of 
business on the day specified in the Manual for Pace to process the Monthly Reports and pay the 
monthly installment during the month for which the monthly installment is due. Monthly Reports 
that are late or are not in accordance with the Manual will delay payment of monthly installments. 
After Service Provider has submitted all Monthly Reports for the Term to Pace, the parties will make 
a final calculation of the Service Reimbursement Amount. If, after the final calculation, a credit is 
due to a party, the party owing the credit shall pay the amount of the credit to the other party within 
30 days after receiving the other party’s written demand for that amount. 
 
Section 9.3.  Subsidy Payments. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, in 
2024 only, Pace will remit a subsidy to Service Provider in the amount of $14,351, which will be paid 
in 12 equal monthly installments beginning in January 2024.   
 
Section 9.4. Limitations on Payments. If Service Provider fails to comply with any material term of 
this Agreement or to take action to correct that failure in accordance with Pace’s direction, Pace, in 
addition to any other remedy provided in this Agreement, may withhold payments to Service 
Provider pending Service Provider’s compliance or corrective action. Notwithstanding any other 
provision of this article 9: 
 
 A. Pace will not pay Service Provider: 
 



 

Page 16 of 25 
Pace Paratransit                                                                                                                                              2024 Paratransit Service Provider Agreement 

  1. unless Service Provider has submitted the Monthly Reports to Pace in 
accordance with the Manual; 

 
  2. if Pace finds or has reason to believe that Service Provider has not prepared 

the Monthly Reports in accordance with sound financial and management 
practices (Pace will withhold payment until Service Provider resolves that 
issue to Pace’s satisfaction); or 

 
   3. if any Operating Expenditure violates this Agreement or the Manual. 
 

B. Pace’s payments to Service Provider will not exceed the Approved Maximum Service 
Reimbursement Amount. 

   
Section 9.5. Funding Availability. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, 
including but not limited to the provisions of section 9.1, Pace’s obligation to pay the Service 
Reimbursement Amount is limited to the availability of funds from Pace’s revenues and budget. If 
Pace determines that funds are not available, Pace’s obligations to pay any such unpaid part or parts 
of the Service Reimbursement Amount will immediately terminate, and Pace will notify Service 
Provider in accordance with section 10.2(A) and will have no further obligations to make any 
payments to Service Provider under this Agreement. 
 
Section 9.6. Transportation Revenue. All Transportation Revenue is the property of the Service 
Provider. Service Provider shall comply with Pace policies, practices, and procedures relating to the 
collection, security, and accounting of all Transportation Revenue as specified in the Manual. Should 
the Service Provider allow any passengers to travel for less than the minimum fares for paratransit 
established by Pace’s board of directors, Service Provider shall fund the difference between the 
minimum Pace fares for paratransit and the fares charged, and those funds will be considered 
Transportation Revenue. 
 
Section 9.7. Accounting and Reporting Standards. Service Provider shall maintain its books and 
records and prepare, maintain, and file reports relating to this Agreement and the Services in 
accordance with generally accepted governmental accounting principles, section 15 of the United 
States Urban Mass Transit Act, the Manual, the Approved Budget, and any documentation 
submitted by Service Provider and approved by Pace in support of the Approved Budget. In case of 
any conflict in the those accounting and reporting standards, Service Provider shall seek Pace’s 
direction and, pending receipt of that direction, shall comply with the standard that most fairly, 
accurately, and completely records and reports the results of operation of the Services. 
 
Section 9.8. Budget Amendments. Pace may, but is not obligated to, revise the Approved Budget or 
increase the Approved Maximum Service Reimbursement Amount or any Line Item Budget 
Maximum. 
 
 
 



 

Page 17 of 25 
Pace Paratransit                                                                                                                                              2024 Paratransit Service Provider Agreement 

Section 9.9. Capital Expenditures. Pace is not obligated to provide any grant funds to Service 
Provider for capital expenditures. If Service Provider pays for any capital asset with the proceeds of 
any Pace payment, the capital asset will be the property of Pace and will be added to exhibit B. 
Service Provider shall deliver the capital asset to Pace at the end of the Term. 
 

ARTICLE 10 
TERMINATION 

 
Section 10.1. Termination.  
 
 A. Termination for Insufficient Funds. Pace may terminate this Agreement, in whole or 

in part, upon seven days’ advance notice to Service Provider if Pace, in its sole 
discretion, determines that (1) the Illinois General Assembly, the Regional 
Transportation Authority, or any funding source has failed to appropriate or 
otherwise make available sufficient funds in any fiscal year to cover payments to 
Service Provider pursuant to article 9  or (2) any Vehicle necessary to perform the 
Services is unavailable for any reason. Pace’s notice will specify the extent and 
effective date of the termination. If Pace terminates part of this Agreement, Service 
Provider shall continue with the unterminated part. 

 
  B. Termination for Convenience. Pace may terminate this Agreement, in whole or in 

part, at any time, when in Pace’s best interest, by notifying Service Provider of the 
termination. Pace’s notice will specify the extent and effective date of the 
termination. If Pace terminates part of this Agreement, Service Provider shall 
continue with the unterminated part. 

 
C. Termination for Negatively Impacting the Services. Pace may terminate this 

Agreement if Service Provider, for any reason other than as specified in section 1.2, 
cancels, eliminates, reduces, or diminishes the Services without obtaining Pace’s 
prior written approval. Pace shall notify Service Provider of the termination, which 
will be effective 24 hours after the date of that notice. 

 
D. Termination for Breach. If Pace, in its sole discretion, determines that Service 

Provider has breached this Agreement by failing to timely perform any of its material 
obligations under this Agreement or to comply with any of its material obligations 
under this Agreement, Pace may terminate this Agreement for breach by notifying 
Service Provider of the termination. Pace will allow Service Provider 21 days from the 
date of Service Provider’s receipt of that notice to cure the breach (“Cure Period”). 
Pace’s notice will state the nature of the breach, the Cure Period, and any other 
conditions Pace deems appropriate. Pace may terminate this Agreement without any 
further obligation to Service Provider or extend the Cure Period if Service Provider 
fails to remedy the breach to Pace's satisfaction within the Cure Period. Termination 
will not preclude Pace from also pursuing all available remedies against Service 
Provider for breach. If, after termination for breach, Pace determines that Service 



 

Page 18 of 25 
Pace Paratransit                                                                                                                                              2024 Paratransit Service Provider Agreement 

Provider was not in breach, Pace will treat the termination as a termination for the 
convenience of Pace. 

 
 If Pace elects to waive its remedies for Service Provider’s breach of any provision of 

this Agreement, that waiver will not limit Pace’s remedies for any succeeding breach 
of that provision or any other provision of this Agreement. 

 
E. Obligations Following Termination. Pace’s obligations upon termination of this 

Agreement will be limited to paying Service Provider for the Services rendered in 
accordance with this Agreement from the Effective Date up to the date of 
termination. Immediately upon termination of this Agreement, Service Provider shall 
comply with the provisions of section 2.1(I). In addition, Service Provider will be liable 
to Pace for all damages that Pace incurs as a result of any Service Provider breach of 
this Agreement that leads to termination of this Agreement. 

 
 ARTICLE 11 
 DUTIES, COVENANTS, AND REPRESENTATIONS 
 
Section 11.1. General. Service Provider hereby covenants and represents that: 
 
 A. Corporate Existence and Power. Service Provider is duly organized, validly existing, 

and in good standing under Illinois law and has the legal power and authority to enter 
into this Agreement and provide, engage in, and carry out the Services. Service 
Provider shall maintain its corporate identity during the Term. 

 
 B. Authorization. Service Provider’s execution of and compliance with this Agreement 

will not result in any breach or violation of, or default under, any judgment, decree, 
mortgage, contract, agreement, indenture, or other instrument applicable to Service 
Provider. 

 
 C. Approvals Obtained. Service Provider has obtained all approvals, consents, permits, 

licenses, authorizations, and modifications as may be required to permit Service 
Provider to perform its obligations under this Agreement. 

 
  D. No Material Litigation. To Service Provider’s knowledge, there are no pending or 

threatened investigations or legal proceedings involving Service Provider with 
respect to this Agreement or which are reasonably likely to have a material adverse 
effect on Service Provider’s business, operations, property, or financial condition. 

 
  E. No Default. Service Provider is not in default under or with respect to any obligation 

that could be materially adverse to Service Provider’s business, operations, property, 
or financial condition or that is reasonably likely to materially adversely affect Service 
Provider’s ability to perform under this Agreement. 

 



 

Page 19 of 25 
Pace Paratransit                                                                                                                                              2024 Paratransit Service Provider Agreement 
 

  F. No Burdensome Restrictions. Neither any obligation of Service Provider nor any 
requirement of law materially adversely affects or, insofar as Service Provider may 
reasonably foresee, may affect Service Provider’s business, operations, property, or 
financial condition or Service Provider’s ability to perform under this Agreement. 

 
  G. No Sale, Lease, or Encumbrance. Service Provider shall not sell, lease, encumber, 

loan, or dispose of any Pace Equipment during the Term. 
 
  H. Payment Obligations. (1) Subject to section 11.1(H)(2), Service Provider shall 

perform and discharge its payment obligations with respect to the Services. (2) 
Service Provider is not required to perform and discharge those payment obligations 
during the period when Service Provider is contesting them in good faith by 
appropriate proceedings, provided Service Provider has set aside an adequate 
reserve on its books with respect to them. Immediately upon a final adjudication of 
those proceedings that is adverse to Service Provider after expiration of all appeal 
periods, Service Provider shall perform and discharge those payment obligations. 

 
  I. No Bar from Public Contracts. Service Provider is not barred from contracting with 

Pace as a result of a violation of either section 33E-3 or 33E-4 of the Illinois Criminal 
Code of 2012 (720 ILCS 5/33E-3 and 33E-4). 

 
  J. Opinion of Counsel. Service Provider shall provide Pace with the opinion of an 

attorney licensed to practice law in Illinois at or before the time Service Provider signs 
this Agreement. That opinion must be in the form specified in exhibit E. 

 
 ARTICLE 12 
 GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 
Section 12.1. Entire Agreement. This Agreement, including the introductory recitals and any 
attached exhibits and the Manual, which are hereby incorporated into and made a part of this 
Agreement, constitutes the entire agreement between the parties and supersedes any prior written 
or oral understandings, agreements, or representations between the parties that may have related 
in any way to the subject matter of this Agreement, and no other written or oral warranties, 
inducements, considerations, promises, representations, or interpretations, which are not expressly 
addressed in this Agreement, will be implied or impressed upon this Agreement. 
 
Section 12.2. Conflict. In the event of a conflict or ambiguity between the terms of this Agreement 
and the terms of any exhibit, including the Manual, the terms of this Agreement will control. 
 
Section 12.3. Amendments. No changes, amendments, or modifications to this Agreement will be 
valid unless they are in writing and the duly authorized signatory of each party signs them. 
 
Section 12.4. Notice. Any notice under this Agreement must be in writing. A party shall give the 
notice in the following manner: 
 
  A. by personal delivery (deemed effective as of the date and time of delivery); 



 

Page 20 of 25 
Pace Paratransit                                                                                                                                              2024 Paratransit Service Provider Agreement 
 

  B. by commercial overnight delivery (deemed effective on the next Business Day 
following deposit of the notice with a commercial overnight delivery company);  

  C. by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, with proper postage prepaid 
(deemed effective as of the third Business Day following deposit of the notice in the 
U.S. mail); or 

  D. by email with delivery receipt requested (deemed effective as of the date and time 
indicated on the receipt confirming delivery, except the effective date and time will 
be 8:00 a.m. on the next business day after delivery of the notice if the receipt shows 
delivery during non-business hours). 

 
The notice must be addressed as follows or addressed to such other address as either party may 
from time to time specify in writing to the other party: 
 
If to Pace: 
 
Pace, the Suburban Bus Division of the Regional Transportation Authority 
550 W. Algonquin Road  
Arlington Heights, IL  60005 
Attention: Executive Director 
 
Email address: Meena.Sahota@pacebus.com 
 
If to Service Provider: 
 
Village of Forest Park 
517 Desplaines Avenue 
Forest Park, IL 60130-1801 
Attention: Rory E. Hoskins, Mayor 
 
Email address:  kdylewski@forestpark.net 
 
Section 12.5. Calendar Days and Time. Any reference to “day” or “days” in this Agreement means 
calendar days unless otherwise indicated. If the date for giving any notice or performing any 
obligation under this Agreement falls on a Saturday, Sunday, or federal or State of Illinois holiday, a 
party may give that notice or perform that obligation on the next Business Day after that Saturday, 
Sunday, or federal or State of Illinois holiday. Any reference in this Agreement to time of day is to 
local time for Arlington Heights, Illinois. 
 
Section 12.6.  Singular, Plural, and Gender. When used in this Agreement, unless the context 
otherwise requires, the singular includes the plural, the plural includes the singular, and gender-
related nouns and pronouns include the feminine, masculine, and neutral. 
 
Section 12.7. Governing Law, Jurisdiction, and Venue. Illinois law governs this Agreement without 
regard to principles of conflicts of law, and the parties shall submit to the exclusive jurisdiction and 
venue of the state courts of Cook County, Illinois for any dispute arising out of or related to this 
Agreement. 



 

Page 21 of 25 
Pace Paratransit                                                                                                                                              2024 Paratransit Service Provider Agreement 
 

Section 12.8.  Changes in Laws. Unless otherwise provided in this Agreement, any reference to laws, 
statutes, ordinances, rules, or regulations includes all amendments to those laws, statutes, 
ordinances, rules, or regulations. 
 
Section 12.9.  Assignment. No party may assign, delegate, or otherwise transfer all or part of its 
rights and obligations under this Agreement without the prior written consent of the other party. 
Any successor or approved assign under this Agreement will accede to all the terms of this 
Agreement as a condition precedent to that succession or assignment. 
 
Section 12.10. Headings. The headings in this Agreement are for reference and convenience only 
and will not affect the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement. 
 
Section 12.11. Prohibited Interests. No members of the Illinois General Assembly, no members of 
the United States Congress, and no directors or employees of Pace or Service Provider may, during 
their tenure and for one year thereafter, have any direct or indirect interest in this Agreement or be 
admitted to any share or part of this Agreement, any benefit arising from this Agreement, or any 
proceeds of this Agreement. 
 
Section 12.12. Independent Relationship. In connection with this Agreement, Service Provider is an 
independent contractor and not an employee, agent, joint venturer, or partner of Pace. Nothing in 
this Agreement creates an agency, partnership, joint venture, or any other relationship between 
Service Provider and Pace or between Pace and any employee or agent of Service Provider or Service 
Provider’s subcontractors (including Third-Party Providers), and Service Provider shall not act on 
behalf of or bind Pace in any manner. Service Provider’s employees must be employees of Service 
Provider, and Service Provider will be solely responsible for all aspects of their employment. All 
personnel necessary for Service Provider’s performance of this Agreement must be employees of 
Service Provider or of Service Provider’s subcontractors. 
 
Section 12.13. Litigation Against Service Provider. If, during the Term, one or more persons or 
entities file or initiate legal proceedings against Service Provider, any Third-Party Provider, and/or 
any other subcontractor of Service Provider and those proceedings may affect or inhibit Service 
Provider’s ability to perform its obligations under or otherwise to comply with this Agreement, 
Service Provider shall deliver a copy of the complaint or charge related to those proceedings to Pace 
within two days of Service Provider’s receipt of that complaint or charge and shall inform Pace of all 
aspects of those proceedings. 
 
Section 12.14. Waiver. Pace will not be deemed to have waived any right under this Agreement 
unless the waiver is in writing and an authorized officer or director of Pace signs that waiver. Pace’s 
delay or omission in exercising any right under this Agreement will not operate as a waiver of that 
right or any other right. Pace’s rights and remedies under this Agreement are cumulative and not 
exclusive, and Pace may exercise those rights and remedies singly or concurrently. Pace’s waiver or 
exercise of any remedy will not be a waiver of any other remedy available under this Agreement or 
general principles of law or equity. 
 
Section 12.15. Time Is of the Essence. Time is of the essence with respect to all of Service Provider’s 
obligations under this Agreement. 



 

Page 22 of 25 
Pace Paratransit                                                                                                                                              2024 Paratransit Service Provider Agreement 
 

 
Section 12.16. Survival. Any provision of this Agreement that imposes an obligation after 
termination or expiration of this Agreement will survive termination or expiration of this Agreement. 
 
Section 12.17. Counterparts. The parties may execute this Agreement in counterparts, each of 
which when so executed and delivered will constitute an original and all of which when taken 
together will constitute one and the same agreement. 
 
Section 12.18. Other Agreements Not Prohibited. This Agreement does not prohibit Pace from 
entering into additional or alternative agreements or arrangements to provide replacement, 
additional, supplementary, or duplicative service in Service Provider’s service area. 
 
Section 12.19. No Future Obligations. Neither this Agreement nor the parties’ performance under 
this Agreement creates any obligation to renew this Agreement after the Term or to enter into any 
other agreement of any kind or nature. 
 
Section 12.20. No Precedent. This Agreement does not establish any precedent in any subsequent 
agreement involving the parties or other persons or entities. Neither party may offer, use, or admit 
this Agreement as evidence in any proceeding or litigation for that purpose. 
 
Section 12.21. Binding Effect. This Agreement is binding upon the parties and their respective 
directors, officers, employees, agents, representatives, successors, and approved assigns. 
 
Section 12.22. Authorization. The signatories to this Agreement represent and warrant that they 
have authority to sign this Agreement on behalf of the party for whom they sign. 
 
Section 12.23. Signature. A party’s original signature to this Agreement or copy of that signature, 
either of which is transmitted by facsimile or scanned and transmitted electronically, will constitute 
an original signature for purposes of this Agreement. 
 
Section 12.24. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which when 
so executed and delivered will be deemed to be an original and all of which when taken together 
will constitute one and the same Agreement. 
 
 

ARTICLE 13 
REMEDIES 

 
Section 13.1. Remedies. In the event a party breaches this Agreement, in addition to the rights 
provided in this Agreement, the non-breaching party may bring a legal proceeding against the 
breaching party to enforce or compel the breaching party’s performance of this Agreement. Any 
cost or expense associated with that proceeding will not be an Operating Expenditure under this 
Agreement. 
 
Section 13.2. Notice and Cure. The non-breaching party may not bring a legal proceeding against 
the breaching party pursuant to section 13.1 without first notifying the breaching party of the 



 

Page 23 of 25 
Pace Paratransit                                                                                                                                              2024 Paratransit Service Provider Agreement 
 

breach and allowing the breaching party 21 days to cure the breach. If the breaching party attempts 
to cure the breach but cannot do so within the 21-day period notwithstanding the breaching party’s 
diligence to do so, the non-breaching party shall extend the 21-day period to allow the breaching 
party to cure the breach with continued diligence. 
 

 
 
 
 

ARTICLE 14 
DEFINITIONS 

 
Approved Budget. The estimate of revenue and expenses, together with any Pace subsidy and local 
share. The proposed budget is specified in exhibit A. 

 
Approved Maximum Service Reimbursement Amount. The Pace subsidy specified in the Approved 
Budget. 

 
Business Days. Monday through Friday, excluding federal and State of Illinois holidays. 

 
Effective Date. The date that Pace signs this Agreement.  

 
Equipment. Pace Equipment and Service Provider Equipment used in the Services. 
 
Line Item. A specific, separately identified category listed in the Approved Budget. 

 
Line Item Budget. The amount of the Approved Budget allocated to a specific Line Item. 

 
Line Item Budget Maximum. The amount specified in the Approved Budget for each Line Item. 

 
Monthly Reports. The monthly report of revenue and expenses and other reports and information 
specified in the Manual. 

 
Operating Deficit. The amount obtained by subtracting Transportation Revenue from Operating 
Expenditure. 

 
Operating Expenditure. Service Provider’s operating expenses in providing the Services, except any: 

 
A. amount that Service Provider shall pay to Pace pursuant to this Agreement; 
 
B. incidental expense as determined by Pace; 
 
C. excessive or unreasonable expense as determined by Pace; 
 



 

Page 24 of 25 
Pace Paratransit                                                                                                                                              2024 Paratransit Service Provider Agreement 
 

D. expense for fees, licenses, local government taxes, or other charges unless the 
Approved Budget specifies that expense or Service Provider obtains Pace’s prior 
written approval of that expense; 

 
E. expense that does not conform with the Approved Budget, Pace’s direction, Pace’s 

prior written approval, or a federal or state law requirement that Pace determines is 
applicable to this Agreement; 

 
F. expense for insurance coverage that is duplicative of coverage under the Insurance 

Program; 
 
G. expense resulting from the amortization or payment of any debt that Service 

Provider incurred prior to the Term or without Pace’s prior written approval; 
 
H. interest expense unless Service Provider obtained Pace’s Prior written approval; 
 
I. sinking fund expense; 
 
J. expense resulting from the amortization of any intangible cost to the extent that 

expense does not meet Pace’s evaluative criteria for allowable amortization; 
 
K. depreciation expense; 
 
L. non-cash expense unless Service Provider obtained Pace’s prior written; and 
 
M. expense that Pace will not reimburse as specified in exhibit D. 

 
Pace Equipment. All Pace-owned assets used in the Services.  
 
Pace Vehicles. All Pace-owned Vehicles used in the Services. 

 
Region. The six-county northeastern Illinois area in which Pace operates. 

 
Service Provider Equipment. All Service Provider-owned assets used in the Services. 
 
Service Provider Vehicles. All Service Provider-owned Vehicles used in the Services.  

 
Service Reimbursement Amount. The total amount that Pace is to pay Service Provider pursuant to 
section 9.1 of this Agreement. 
 
Term. The term of this Agreement, which commences on January 1, 2024 and ends upon Service 
Provider’s completion of the Services on December 31, 2024 unless earlier terminated in accordance 
with this Agreement. 
 
Third-Party Providers. Any persons or entities who, pursuant to contract or agreement with Service 
Provider, provide part of the Services. 



Page 25 of 25 
Pace Paratransit              2024 Paratransit Service Provider Agreement

Transportation Revenue. All revenue and income amounts generated by, derived from, attributable 
to, or related to the Services during the Term, including any amounts specified in the Approved 
Budget as local share. 

Vehicle. Any means of transportation or conveyance used in the Services. 

Each party is signing this Agreement on the date under that party’s signature. 

PACE SERVICE PROVIDER 

By: ________________________________ By: _______________________________ 
Name: Name: 
Title:  Title: 

Date: _____________________________ Date: ____________________________  















1170587.1 

ORDINANCE NO. O-________-23 

AN ORDINANCE APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING THE  
EXECUTION OF A VEHICLE PARKING LICENSE AGREEMENT  

BY AND BETWEEN CURRIE MOTORS CHEVROLET, INC.  
AND THE VILLAGE OF FOREST PARK, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

WHEREAS, Currie Motors Chevrolet, Inc. (“Currie”) operates a car dealership in the Village 

of Forest Park (“Village”) and proposes to license a portion of a Village-owned parking lot located 

just west of Desplaines Avenue (“Village Lot”) for the purposes of vehicle storage and not sales, to 

support its sales operation in the Village (“Vehicle Storage”); and 

WHEREAS, the Village is agreeable to grant to Currie the license to enter on and occupy the 

Village Lot for the sole purpose of Vehicle Storage, as further provided for and pursuant to that 

certain Vehicle Parking License Agreement, attached hereto as Exhibit A and made a part hereof 

(“License Agreement”). 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Village Council of the Village of Forest 

Park, Cook County, Illinois, as follows: 

1. That the License Agreement, attached hereto and made a part hereof as Exhibit A, is

approved and the execution of the License Agreement by the Mayor and Village Clerk is hereby 

authorized. 

2. That the officials, officers, employees and agents of the Village are authorized to take 

such actions and execute such documents as are necessary to carry out the purpose and intent of the 

License Agreement. 

3. That this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect upon and after its passage and

approval in the manner provided by law. 



1170587.1 

PASSED by the Council of the Village of Forest Park, Cook County, Illinois this 18th day of 

December, 2023.  

AYES:___________________________________________  

NAYS:___________________________________________  

ABSENT:_________________________________________ 

APPROVED: 

______________________________ 
Rory E. Hoskins, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

__________________________ 
Vanessa Moritz, Village Clerk   



EXHIBIT A 

LICENSE AGREEMENT 





VEHICLE PARKING LICENSE AGREEMENT 

THIS VEHICLE PARKING LICENSE AGREEMENT ("License Agreement") is made 
and entered into on ______________ , 2023, by and between the VILLAGE 
OF FOREST PARK, a municipal corporation existing by and under the laws of the State of Illinois 
(herein "Village"), and CURRIE MOTORS CHEVROLET, INC., an Illinois corporation (herein 
"Currie"). 

WHEREAS, the Village is the record owner of certain property containing approximately 
380 parking spaces, located generally east of Des Plaines Avenue and north of Jackson Boulevard, 
more particularly depicted on the attached Exhibit A and by reference incorporated herein 
("Property"); and 

WHEREAS, Currie has requested that the Village allow the storage (no sales) of 
vehicles/inventory on the Property solely related to Currie's off-site sales operations within the 
Village ("Vehicle Parking"); and 

WHEREAS, the Village proposes to license to Currie the Property for its Vehicle Parking, 
pursuant to the terms and conditions of this License Agreement. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises and covenants contained 
herein, and other valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby 
acknowledged, the Village and Currie agree as follows: 

1. Recitals. The above recitals are true and correct and are incorporated herein by
reference. 

2.

Licensed Vehicle Parking Spaces and License Fee. The Village hereby licenses to 

Currie the Property for the purpose of Vehicle Parking. Currie shall pay to the Village the sum of 

$7500 per month during the License Term, as defined below. 

3. Access Rights. Included in the license grant herein shall be the license to use for 
vehicular access those adjoining drive aisles and access points to access to and from the Property, 
as further depicted on Exhibit A. 

4. Improvement and Maintenance. Currie shall, at its sole cost, improve and maintain 
the Property for vehicle parking purposes, including, but not limited to, installation of a perimeter 
fence, cameras, removal of debris and snow plowing. Currie shall comply with and secure any 
and all Village permits as may be necessary under this License Agreement. 

5. Improvements. Any improvements made by Currie on the Property shall, at the 
election of the Village, in its sole and absolute discretion, remain and become the property ofthe 
Village, or upon written notice from the Village shall be promptly removed by Currie upon 
expiration of this License Agreement and the Property shall be restored to the same condition as it 

1169717.1 

1 













9/28/23, 11:02 AM 711 Des Plaines Ave - Google Maps

https://www.google.com/maps/place/711+Des+Plaines+Ave,+Forest+Park,+IL+60130/@41.8750604,-87.8169468,292m/data=!3m1!1e3!4m6!3m5!1s0x880e351ddc46aedd:0x625d73fa8dd12c06!8m2!3… 1/1

Imagery ©2023 CNES / Airbus, Maxar Technologies, Sanborn, U.S. Geological Survey, USDA/FPAC/GEO, Map data ©2023 100 ft 

711 Des Plaines Ave

subject 
location



 
1180394.1 

RESOLUTION NO. R-__________-23 
 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING PAY REQUEST #1 (FINAL)  
FOR THE 2023 SIDEWALK IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT  
FROM NARDULLI CONSTRUCTION COMPANY, INC. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Village of Forest Park, Cook County, Illinois ("Village"), awarded the 

contract for the 2023 Sidewalk Improvements Project from Nardulli Construction Company, Inc. 

(“Contractor"); and 

 WHEREAS, Contractor has submitted its Pay Request #1 (Final) for completion of the 

work to date under the Project, a copy of which is attached hereto and made a part hereof; and 

 WHEREAS, the Pay Request #1 (Final) has been reviewed by the Village Engineer, who 

has determined that Contractor is entitled to compensation for its performance under the Project 

to date, pursuant to the Pay Request #1 (Final); and 

 WHEREAS, the Village will be obligated to make a payment on Pay Request #1 (Final) 

to Contractor in the amount of Fifty-Three Thousand Four Hundred Sixty and 95/100 Dollars 

($53,460.95); and 

 WHEREAS, it is necessary that the Mayor and Council of the Village approve Pay 

Request #1 (Final) to Contractor under the contract for the Project. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Mayor and Council of the Village of 

Forest Park, Cook County, Illinois, as follows: 

 Section 1. The Council of the Village hereby approves Pay Request #1 (Final) to 

Contractor in the amount of Fifty-Three Thousand Four Hundred Sixty and 95/100 Dollars 

($53,460.95) under the contract for the Project with Contractor. 

 Section 2. The Village Clerk is directed to attest to the Mayor's signature on any and 

all documents, as necessary. 



 
1180394.1 

 Section 3. This Resolution shall be in full force and effect upon its passage in the 

manner provided by law. 

 RESOLVED by the Council of the Village of Forest Park, Cook County, Illinois this 18th 

day of December, 2023.  

 
 AYES: ___________________________ 
 
 NAYS: ___________________________ 
 
 ABSENT: _________________________  
 

APPROVED by me this 18th day of December, 2023. 
 
 
 
   ___________________________________ 

Rory E. Hoskins, Mayor  
 
 

ATTESTED and filed in my office, 
and published in pamphlet form 
this ______ day of December, 2023. 
 
 
________________________________ 
Vanessa Moritz, Village Clerk  
  
 
 



 
1180394.1 

2023 SIDEWALK IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT 
PAY REQUEST #1 (Final) 



 
1180394.1 



 
1180394.1 



 
1180394.1 



 
1180394.1 



 
1180394.1 



 
1180394.1 



 
1180394.1 



 
1180394.1 



 
1180394.1 



 
1180394.1 



 
1180394.1 

 



 

1180390.1 

RESOLUTION NO. R-__________-23 
 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF 
PAY REQUEST #8 FOR THE 2023 WATER MAIN  
PROJECT TO UNO CONSTRUCTION CO., INC. 

(WILCOX & FERDINAND) 
 

 WHEREAS, the Village of Forest Park, Cook County, Illinois ("Village"), awarded the 

contract for the 2023 Water Main Project ("Project") to Uno Construction Co., Inc. 

(“Contractor"); and 

 WHEREAS, Contractor has submitted its Pay Request #8 for completed work to date 

under the Project, a copy of which is attached hereto and made a part hereof; and 

 WHEREAS, the Pay Request #8 has been reviewed by the Village Engineer, who has 

determined that Contractor is entitled to compensation for certain services performed under the 

Project, pursuant to the Pay Request #8; and 

 WHEREAS, the Village will be obligated to make a payment on Pay Request #8 to 

Contractor in the amount of One Hundred Eighty-Eight Thousand Thirty-One and 10/100 

($188,031.10); and 

 WHEREAS, it is necessary that the Mayor and Council of the Village approve Pay 

Request #8 to Contractor under the contract for the Project. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Mayor and Council of the Village of 

Forest Park, Cook County, Illinois, as follows: 

 Section 1. The Council of the Village hereby approves Pay Request #8 to Contractor 

in the amount of One Hundred Eighty-Eight Thousand Thirty-One and 10/100 ($188,031.10) 

under the contract for the Project with Contractor. 

 Section 2. The Village Clerk is directed to attest to the Mayor's signature on any and 

all documents, as necessary. 



 

1180390.1 

 Section 3. This Resolution shall be in full force and effect upon its passage and 

adoption in accordance with law. 

 ADOPTED by the Council of the Village of Forest Park, Cook County, Illinois this 18th 

day of December, 2023.  

 
 AYES: ___________________________ 
 
 NAYS: ___________________________ 
 
 ABSENT: _________________________  
 

APPROVED by me this 18th day of December, 2023. 
 
 
 
   ___________________________________ 

Rory E. Hoskins, Mayor  
 
 

ATTESTED and filed in my office, 
and published in pamphlet form 
this ______ day of December, 2023. 
 
 
________________________________ 
Vanessa Moritz, Clerk  
  
 
 



 

1180390.1 

UNO CONSTRUCTION CO., INC. 
2023 WATER MAIN PROJECT 

(WILCOX & FERDINAND) 
PAY REQUEST #8 



 

1180390.1 



 

1180390.1 



 

1180390.1 



 

1180390.1 



 

1180390.1 



 

1180390.1 



 

1180390.1 



 

1180390.1 

 



 
1180386.1 

RESOLUTION NO. R-__________-23 
 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING PAY REQUEST #2 FOR THE 2023 WILCOX & 
FERDINAND MOTOR FUEL TAX (MFT) RESURFACING IMPROVEMENTS 

PROJECT TO ALAMP CONCRETE CONTRACTORS, INC. 
  
 WHEREAS, the Village of Forest Park, Cook County, Illinois ("Village"), awarded the 

contract for the 2023 Wilcox & Ferdinand Motor Fuel Tax (MFT) Resurfacing Improvements 

Project to ALamp Concrete Contractors, Inc. (“Contractor"); and 

 WHEREAS, Contractor has submitted its Pay Request #2 for completion of the work to 

date under the Project, a copy of which is attached hereto and made a part hereof; and 

 WHEREAS, the Pay Request #2 has been reviewed by the Village Engineer, who has 

determined that Contractor is entitled to compensation for its performance under the Project to 

date, pursuant to the Pay Request #2; and 

 WHEREAS, the Village will be obligated to make a payment on Pay Request #2 to 

Contractor in the amount of Three Hundred Fifty-Two Thousand Eight Hundred Thirty-Six and 

90/100 Dollars ($352,836.90); and 

 WHEREAS, it is necessary that the Mayor and Council of the Village approve Pay 

Request #2 to Contractor under the contract for the Project. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Mayor and Council of the Village of 

Forest Park, Cook County, Illinois, as follows: 

 Section 1. The Council of the Village hereby approves Pay Request #2 to Contractor 

in the amount of Three Hundred Fifty-Two Thousand Eight Hundred Thirty-Six and 90/100 

Dollars ($352,836.90) under the contract for the Project with Contractor. 

 Section 2. The Village Clerk is directed to attest to the Mayor's signature on any and 

all documents, as necessary. 



 
1180386.1 

 Section 3. This Resolution shall be in full force and effect upon its passage in the 

manner provided by law. 

 RESOLVED by the Council of the Village of Forest Park, Cook County, Illinois this 18th 

day of December, 2023.  

 
 AYES: ___________________________ 
 
 NAYS: ___________________________ 
 
 ABSENT: _________________________  
 

APPROVED by me this 18th day of December, 2023. 
 
 
 
   ___________________________________ 

Rory E. Hoskins, Mayor  
 
 

ATTESTED and filed in my office, 
and published in pamphlet form 
this ______ day of December, 2023. 
 
 
________________________________ 
Vanessa Moritz, Village Clerk  
  
 
 



 
1180386.1 

2023 WILCOX & FERDINAND MOTOR FUEL TAX (MFT)  
RESURFACING IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT 

PAY REQUEST #2 



 
1180386.1 



 
1180386.1 



 
1180386.1 



 
1180386.1 



 
1180386.1 



 
1180386.1 



 
1180386.1 



 
1180386.1 



 
1180386.1 



 
1180386.1 



 
1180386.1 



 
1180386.1 



 
1180386.1 



 
1180386.1 



 
1180386.1 



 
1180386.1 



 
1180386.1 



 
1180386.1 



 
1180386.1 



 
1180386.1 



 
1180386.1 



 
1180386.1 



 
1180386.1 



 
1180386.1 



 
1180386.1 



 
1180386.1 



 
1180386.1 



 
1180386.1 



 
1180386.1 



 
1180386.1 



 
1180386.1 



 
1180386.1 



 
1180386.1 



 
1180386.1 



 
1180386.1 



 
1180386.1 



 
1180386.1 



 
1180386.1 



 
1180386.1 



 
1180386.1 



 
1180386.1 



 
1180386.1 



 
1180386.1 



 
1180386.1 



 
1180386.1 



 
1180386.1 



 
1180386.1 



 
1180386.1 



 
1180386.1 



 
1180386.1 



 
1180386.1 



 
1180386.1 



 
1180386.1 



 
1180386.1 



 
1180386.1 

 







 
 
December 5, 2023 
 
Mayor Rory Hoskins 
Village of Forest Park 
517 Desplaines Avenue  
Forest Park, IL 60130 
 
Dear Mayor Hoskins and the Forest Park Village Council,  
 
The 150th Anniversary Committee of Pilgrim Congregational Church, would like to respectfully 
request permission to hang one banner advertising our Showcase of Black History, Culture, and 
Entrepreneurship, to be held on February 24, 2024.  
 
We would like for the banner to be displayed at Circle and Madison for two weeks beginning 
Monday, February 12 through Monday, February 26.  
 
Pilgrim, 460 Lake Street, Oak Park, celebrates throughout 2024 our 150 years of serving as a 
community gathering space and house of worship. The Showcase, during Black History Month, 
will include music, dancing, health fair, and vendor area highlighting black-owned businesses. 
We hope that you will help us spread the word about this free-to-the-public event.  
 
Thank you very much for your consideration.  
 
Warmly,  
 
Leslie Lauderdale and Cheri Houha 
Co-chairs 
150th Anniversary Committee 
 

 
 

 
 
 
Pilgrim Congregational Church, UCC * 460 Lake Street, Oak Park, IL 60302 * 708-848-5860 
www.pilgrimoakpark.net 




















	minutes 11272023.pdf
	THE REGULAR MEETING OF THE COUNCIL OF THE
	VILLAGE OF FOREST PARK, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS
	HELD ON MONDAY EVENING, NOVEMBER 27, 2023
	ROLL CALL
	Commissioners Maxham, Nero, Melin-Rogovin, Voogd and Mayor Hoskins answered the Roll Call.
	APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETINGS
	AYES: Commissioners Maxham, Melin-Rogovin, Voogd and Mayor Hoskins
	AYES: Commissioners Maxham, Melin-Rogovin, Voogd and Mayor Hoskins
	APPROVAL OF BILLS:
	AYES: Commissioners Maxham, Nero, Melin-Rogovin, Voogd and Mayor Hoskins
	AYES: Commissioners Maxham, Nero, Melin-Rogovin, Voogd and Mayor Hoskins
	AYES: Commissioners Maxham, Nero, Melin-Rogovin, Voogd and Mayor Hoskins
	AYES: Commissioners Maxham, Nero, Melin-Rogovin, Voogd and Mayor Hoskins
	AYES: Commissioners Maxham, Nero, Melin-Rogovin, Voogd and Mayor Hoskins
	AYES: Commissioners Maxham, Nero, Melin-Rogovin, Voogd and Mayor Hoskins
	AYES: Commissioners Maxham, Nero, Melin-Rogovin, Voogd and Mayor Hoskins
	AYES: Commissioners Maxham, Nero, Melin-Rogovin, Voogd and Mayor Hoskins
	AYES: Commissioners Maxham, Nero, Melin-Rogovin, Voogd and Mayor Hoskins
	AYES: Commissioners Maxham, Nero, Melin-Rogovin, Voogd and Mayor Hoskins
	AYES: Commissioners Maxham, Nero, Melin-Rogovin, Voogd and Mayor Hoskins
	AYES: Commissioners Maxham, Nero, Melin-Rogovin, Voogd and Mayor Hoskins
	AYES: Commissioners Maxham, Nero, Melin-Rogovin, Voogd and Mayor Hoskins
	AYES: Commissioners Maxham, Nero, Melin-Rogovin, Voogd and Mayor Hoskins

	December 18 2023 Bills by Resolution.pdf
	12.18.2023 Resolution.pdf
	12.18.2023 Agenda.pdf

	1FP Safety and Traffic Commission - YTD Report 2023-11-13.pdf
	Forest Park Safety and Traffic Commission 
	General Activity
	General Activity
	Reviewed Issues – Completed
	Reviewed Issues – Action Recommended
	Reviewed Issues – Action Recommended
	Reviewed Issues – Action Recommended
	Reviewed Issues – Action Recommended
	Reviewed Issues – Action Recommended
	Reviewed Issues – Action Recommended
	Reviewed Issues – Action Recommended
	Reviewed Issues – Action Recommended
	Reviewed Issues – Action Recommended
	Reviewed Issues – Action Recommended
	Reviewed Issues – No Action
	Pending Issues
	Traffic Calming Measures – Under Review
	Summary - Issues for Potential Council Action

	2Forest Park 3-year Plan 2024-2026.121823.pdf
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Roadway Assessment
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Alley Assessment
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9
	Slide Number 10
	Slide Number 11
	Slide Number 12

	3Forest Park Ordinance terminating the designation of the Brown Street Station - Harlem Avenue Redevelopment Project Area(1181222.1).pdf
	APPROVED:
	ATTEST:

	7Ordinance authorizing approval of authorized variations to allow the construction of a single family residence at 7713 Wilcox Street(1181101.1).pdf
	APPROVED:
	ATTEST:

	8Ordinance authorizing approval of authorized variations to allow the construction of a single family residence at 838 Circle Avenue(1181102.1).pdf
	APPROVED:
	ATTEST:

	11Ordinance approving and authorizing the execution of a Vehicle Parking License Agreement with Currie.pdf
	11 Ordinance approving and authorizing the execution of a Vehicle Parking License Agreement with Currie.pdf
	ORDINANCE NO. O-________-23
	AN ORDINANCE APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING THE
	EXECUTION OF A VEHICLE PARKING LICENSE AGREEMENT
	BY AND BETWEEN CURRIE MOTORS CHEVROLET, INC.
	AND THE VILLAGE OF FOREST PARK, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS
	EXHIBIT A
	LICENSE AGREEMENT

	Jankelow to Mayor Hoskins re 711 Des Plaines (002).pdf
	doc08811020231019154225.pdf
	711 Des Plaines Ave - Google Maps23 (004).pdf





